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• We focus on what we do best: 
operational excellence in 
engineering, procurement & 
construction (EPC) and turnkey 
design & build projects.

• We engage our clients and 
business associates as partners in 
the delivery of cost-effective and 
value-added solutions.

• We provide a supportive working 
environment and rewarding 
career development for our staff 
through holistic people developer 
programmes.

• We embrace corporate social 
responsibility in all the communities 
that we operate in. 

Agility 
We maintain our agility 
in the marketplace and 
build enduring relationships 
with our customers 
and shareholders by 
being responsive and 
communicative. 

Collaboration  
We work as a team, 
where everyone is treated 
equally, individual rights 
are respected and diversity 
is embraced, and is united 
in reaching our common 
goal.

Excellence
We encourage our 
staff to be their best – 
professionally and ethically 
- in our relentless pursuit of 
corporate excellence. 

Sustainability
We strive to create value 
for all stakeholders and 
a sustainable growth for 
us, and we demonstrate 
this through embracing 
our social and corporate 
responsibilities. 

To maximise long-term returns 

for our stakeholders through 

corporate excellence, innovation 

and sustainable business model.

OUR 
MISSION

OUR STRATEGIES
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…WE WILL 
EXCEL WITH NEW 
ASPIRATIONS.

FY2009 has been a year of 
dynamic transformation for 
us. With the new leadership 
in place, we are now well-
positioned to triumph over 
new challenges.
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CHAIRMAN’S
MESSAGE

Key events 

There were three major highlights in 2009:  

(a) Reprimand by sGX
 In April 2009, the Company was reprimanded by the Securities Exchange Trading Limited 

(“SGX-ST”) for the lapse in governance and transparency over significant transactions 
and agreements that had happened in the previous two years. Consequently, the Board 
engaged Ernst & Young Risk Advisory Services Pte Ltd, in consultation with SGX-ST, to 
perform a full scope of review on the circumstances surrounding the transactions and 
agreements in the last two years, and to report its findings and recommendations. 

(b) Rights Issue
 During the year, the Company carried out a Rights Issue exercise to raise S$1.93 million 

in net proceeds which were used as working capital.

(c) Improved financial results
 The Group’s revenue increased by 20% from S$29.53 million for the financial 

year ended 30 September 2008 as compared to S$35.50 million for the year 
ended 30 September 2009. In addition, net loss was significantly reduced from 
S$14.24 million for the financial year ended 30 September 2008 to S$5.58 million 
for the financial year ended 30 September 2009. The loss for FY2009 was mainly 
attributed to a few sources: 

Dear Shareholders,
On behalf of the Board of Directors, I hereby present the performance review of Dayen Environmental Limited for the financial year ended 
30 September 2009. 

The year 2009 had been a 

challenging eventful year 

amid the global credit crunch 

that impacted every sector of 

the industries. However, Dayen 

had taken the opportunity to 

strengthen, restructure, and 

re-position the Company.
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(1) Additional project loss of S$2 million caused by a 
reduction in the claimable portion of billings and higher 
costs pertaining to the project in Cambodia. 

(2) Loss of S$1.36 million from an impairment pertaining 
to a joint venture company – Pizhou Water Holdings 
Pte Ltd (Singapore).

(3) Revaluation loss of S$0.96 million from the previous 
year’s investment in PT ATPK Resources.

ActIons tAKen 

The year 2009 had been a challenging eventful year amid the global 
credit crunch that impacted every sector of the industries. However, 
Dayen had taken the opportunity to strengthen, restructure, and 
re-position the Company in the following areas:

(a) In October 2009, the Board commissioned an internal controls 
review by Deloitte & Touche Enterprise Risk Services Pte 
Ltd (“Deloitte”), to evaluate the Company’s new internal 
controls and corporate governance procedures. The final report 
recorded no significant observations on:

(1) Significant processes and major classes of transactions.

(2) Key internal controls at the enterprise level. 

(3)  The design of key internal control cycles such as cash 
management, capital/operation procurement, etc. 

(b) Appointing new directors to the Board to improve corporate 
governance and stewardship. On 12 February 2009, Mr Mun 
Hon Pheng and I were appointed as Independent Director, 
and non-Independent, non-Executive Chairman respectively. 

(c) Strengthening our core competencies by refining the technical 
capabilities within the Company.

(d) Raising additional capital to strengthen the balance sheet.  

(e) Identifying strategic partners to secure new projects.

(f) Implementing additional procedures to follow through in the 
cost monitoring process on all projects.

GoInG FoRwARd

On 17 December 2009, we entered into a share placement 
agreement with Moya Holding Company (“Moya”) to raise S$20 
million. This will significantly recapitalise our balance sheet and 
allow us to seize new projects in the coming years. We view the 
strategic investment of Moya as a vote of confidence in Dayen 
as a total water solutions provider. We will continue to focus on 
positioning Dayen as an international player for innovative water 
and wastewater solutions.

With the above developments, we are very well positioned to seize 
new opportunities. We are currently evaluating a few joint ventures 
as well as projects of significant size which will add significantly to 
our order book next year.

AppRecIAtIon

I would like to record my appreciation to all management and staff 
who have worked tirelessly to strengthen the Company and also to 
express my thanks and gratitude to all shareholders who continue 
to give the Company your support and encouragement.

Mr Ling yew Kong
Chairman
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…WE WILL TAP 
INTO OUR NEW 
SYNERGIES.
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The proposed S$20 
million-investment 
from Moya Holding 
Company not only 
significantly enhances 
our shareholder 
value, but perfectly 
positions Dayen in the 
international market 
for innovative water 
solutions.
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MESSAGE FROM
CEO & MD

Looking back at the year, I believe we have emerged stronger, leaner and more 
competitively positioned than ever. Our financial figures for FY2009 have shown 
concerted improvement over the previous year. We also ended the year 2009 with 
a proposed S$20 million investment offer from Moya Holding Company that will 
strengthen our participation in higher value contracts, and enable us to expand our 
portfolios to include significantly larger and more complex projects. We look forward 
to tapping into our new synergies created by the combined force between Moya and 
Dayen in FY2010 and beyond. 

To Our Shareholders,

A tIMe oF MetAMoRphosIs 

It is an honour for me to serve Dayen as its new CEO, in a year marked by dynamic transformation of 
the Company. 

In many ways, the challenges that confronted Dayen in the previous year offered a preview of things 
to come in FY2009. Externally, the ensuing financial turmoil and economic complexities continued to 
exacerbate our tough operating climate. To address corporate governance lapses that had transpired in the 
previous two years, we have since put in place significant measures to improve transparency and strengthen 
our internal control practices. Within the Group, we saw the retirement and resignation respectively of 
the co-founders of Dayen – Mr Koh Hock Lai and Mr John Lee Thian Guan – which signified a new phase 
in the metamorphosis of Dayen. The introduction of new members to the Board and management also 
took place at a pivotal moment when the Company was barely emerging from the global financial crisis.

Whilst the economic crisis had 

taken a toll on the Group’s 

turnover and profit margin, 

the Group managed to end 

on a higher note compared 

to last year.
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I would like to thank the Board and my key officers for taking on 
the task of transforming Dayen amid the prevailing challenges and 
working hand-in-hand to meet the new challenges in the coming 
year. We will ride the new wave of opportunities and thereby create 
more value for our shareholders. 

oveRvIew oF FInAncIAL yeAR 2009

Some of the biggest challenges we faced were the tightening 
of credit by banks and the increased volatility of material prices. 
Against this backdrop, we implemented a revised strategy which 
emphasised financial stability and cautious risk management 
focused on stringent control of the balance sheet. For China, we 
recalibrated our position on the deals negotiated and secured before 
the crisis and took the decision not to further expose the Company 
to additional cash flow demands. 

Whilst the economic crisis had taken a toll on the Group’s turnover 
and profit margin, the Group managed to end on a higher note 
compared to last year, with total revenue for the year ended 30 
September 2009 at S$35.50 million. We also secured a gross profit 
of S$1.83 million, a marked improvement over the preceding year’s 
gross losses. This is the result of increased contributions from newer 
projects in Johor and the Middle East, as well as tighter controls and 
stringent project management measures undertaken. Unfortunately, 
due to reduction in the claimable portion of billings and higher 
costs pertaining to the project in Cambodia, impairment loss for 

shares in PT ATPK Resources based on the mark to market valuation 
approach, and share of losses of a jointly-controlled entity, we 
incurred a nett loss of S$5.58 million. Compared to the nett loss 
of S$14.24 million incurred for FY2008, the smaller loss position 
is a result of tight management on all aspects of our business that 
are in our control. 

Overall, cost containment efforts have proven effective; owing 
to a more prudent approach towards project budgeting and 
cost management measures across all divisions, we have seen 
23% and 72% reduction in administration costs and other 
expenses respectively. 

RIdInG on new oppoRtunItIes
The Group will be selective in tendering for profitable local projects 
and international municipal projects with low credit risk. As the 
Group has a relatively low level of debt and has appropriate cash 
reserves to complete the existing projects, the Group is confident 
to ride out the economic downturn. 

To smooth out the lumpy revenue pattern inherent of turnkey 
projects, we had previously sought revenue through the Build 
Operate and Transfer (“BOT”) model for our overseas projects in 
China. However, the credit markets continue to be challenging for 
new BOT projects, and as such, the Group will be selective in the 
bidding of such projects. 



MESSAGE FROM
CEO & MD

Our focus on improving performance in delivering quality projects 
runs adjacent with how we create a sustainable competitive edge 
through superior execution capabilities and profit maximisation. 
We are seeing great potential for recurring projects and new 
businesses in some of our existing markets in Cambodia, Malaysia, 
China, Oman, and Papua New Guinea. The management will 
weigh carefully the pipeline of projects and continue to monitor 
prospective and new markets such as Bahrain and Qatar, where 
we possess strong competitive advantages. 

The Group views Singapore as the mainstay market and we will 
continue to pursue yield accretive projects aggressively. With our 
impeccable track record over the last 23 years, the Company will 
leverage on its solid reputation to grow the commercial sector 
through new sales and marketing teams. Dayen remains committed 
to our core business in water and wastewater treatment, and will 
continue to accelerate initiatives that provide us a significant 
competitive edge, and maintain initiatives that reinforce our status 
as a key water and wastewater player. 

At the same time, we will seek new technologies that would enable 
us to value add to our current scope of products and services, as 
well as focus on leveraging on strategic partnerships with reputable 
international partners to acquire new synergies and significantly 
accelerate our growth. An example of such collaborations is our 
landmark cooperative agreement with ConSideR Group (Belgium) 
& Colsen International (Netherlands) - experienced providers of 
biomass technologies in June 2009, a move which brings us closer 
towards our positioning as an environmental solutions provider. 
Our joint venture company, Dowtec Pte Ltd is also tasked to grow 
the “external wings” of the Group through providing complete 
“cradle to cradle” consultancy in design, engineering, risk and 
asset management for large scale developments in the Energy and 
Environment sectors. 

A RevIvIFIed Focus 

While the external economic landscape points to a fragile growth 
outlook, we are positioned for a sustainable recovery with a 
revivified focus. Several initiatives have been set in motion to bring 
about the revitalisation process across the Company. 

Dayen will continue to entrench our roots in Singapore, through our 
participation as a founding sponsor of the Singapore International 
Water Week (“SIWW”). This milestone is a source of pride for 
us because it underscores our dedication to our core business 
in water and wastewater treatment and management. We also 
recognise that it is just one step on a longer journey. That is why 
we are investing in a five-year agreement as the founding sponsor 
of the SIWW. 

We are encouraged by the strong commitment of our people, many 
of whom are long-serving with an average service length of 10 years 
and more. As our people are the key to our success, we will continue 
to build on these core competencies through targeted training and 
development. As a measure to strengthen the corporate culture, we 
are presently undertaking the Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) 
framework to establish a workplace environment that promotes 
leading meaningful lives and takes into account staff and their 
families, customers and suppliers alike, the community and the 
greater environment. 
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Our commitment to embrace CSR this year is marked by 
our participation for the first time in the Corporate And 
School Partnership Programme (“CASP”), a programme 
under the National Environment Agency (“NEA”) to promote 
collaboration between corporations and schools towards 
achieving environmental goals. Through consultation with 
professional bodies like the Singapore Compact, I believe the 
growth of our CSR initiatives will eventually bloom into something 
more than an expression of corporate citizenship. 

posItIve outLooK FoR the FutuRe

The management’s view is that opportunities exist for further 
growth. If we could take the cue from the outcomes of the 20th 
Asia Pacific Economic Cooperation (“APEC”), the close collaboration 
between governments and the International Financial Institutions 
and Multilateral Development Banks will provide an increased 
stream of municipal projects. Where possible, we would also seize 
opportunities for first mover advantages to expand across new 
borders, and leverage on reduced barriers to trade and investment 
in environmental goods and services (“EGS”).

Our job in the coming year is to tap on our existing platforms to 
generate superior returns on specialised expertise, and to improve 
our execution capability through tight controls on project and 
supply chain management. As a growth strategy, the Group has 
been actively looking for business opportunities, in particular in 
biomass treatment and distribution of eco-friendly equipment. 
To rebuild quickly, the Group will continue to evaluate potential 
strategic alliances to leverage on the technical expertise, financial 
strength and market access of other players in the industry. 

None of this will come easily and it will require collective action. 
On behalf of management and staff, I want to express our gratitude 
to all our loyal shareholders for their understanding and support. 
Our sincerest appreciation also goes to our suppliers and customers 
for their continued partnership. Finally, I also want to thank our 
Board for their intense focus and willingness to share the benefits 
of their experience. Going forward, we are determined to do better. 
We will continue to work as a cohesive team and take Dayen to 
greater heights. 

yau wai hoo Alan 
Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director
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GROUP
STRUCTURE

Joint VentureAssociateSubsidiary

shenfei dayen 
environmental 

Limited 
(China) 

dayen environmental Limited

dayen Xinmin 
pte Ltd
(SGP) 

pt. dian 
sumberdaya Alam

(Indonesia) 

dayen Investment
holdings 
pte Ltd 
(SGP) 

dayen Resources 
pte Ltd
(SGP) 

dowtec 
pte Ltd
(SGP) 

dayen water
engineering 
(Beijing) Ltd

(China) 

pizhou water 
holdings 
pte Ltd 
(SGP) 

dayen 
environmental FZe 

(UAE) 

ch solutions 
pte Ltd 
(SGP) 

pizhou penyao 
holdings 
pte Ltd
(China) 

dayen-AquaBlu
technologies

pte Ltd
(SGP) 

dayen 
environmental LLc 

(UAE) 

dayen Mining 
pte Ltd 
(SGP) 

50%

100%

100%

100%

100%

51%

100%

50%

100%

100%

100%

50%

100%

100%
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…WE WILL RIDE 
THE NEW WAVE OF 
OPPORTUNITIES.

With a stronger financial 
backing and integrated 
technical capacity, we 
are moving forth to seize 
greater opportunities, 
especially in expanding 
our market share in 
the Middle East and 
beyond.

3
 



BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS

1. MR LInG yew KonG   Chairman (Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)

 As Chairman of Dayen, Mr Ling Yew Kong is primarily responsible for providing strategic guidance and charting new directions for the 
Company. He is currently the Chairman and Managing Director of FirstLink Investments Corporation Limited. Mr Ling started his career 
in 1991 as an Auditor with Ernst & Young. He held various positions as Finance Manager of Keppel Securities Pte Ltd, Vice President 
(Equity Investments) of Deutsche Morgan Grenfell & Partners Securities Pte Ltd, and Head of Sales in Socgen Crosby Securities Pte Ltd, 
before joining IPCO International Ltd in 2001 as Executive Director and Chief Operating Officer. At IPCO, Mr Ling was responsible for the 
operations of infrastructure projects, and was managing the 240 kilometres toll road in Guangzhou, China. 

 Mr Ling has a Bachelor of Commerce Degree, majoring in Accounting, from Murdoch University, Western Australia.  
He is also a fellow member of the Australian Society of Certified Practising Accountants.

2. MR yAu wAI hoo ALAn   Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director

 Mr Alan Yau Wai Hoo is in charge of carrying out the strategies and policies as established by the Board and leading the Company to 
achieve sustainable and profitable growth. Before Mr Yau was appointed CEO of Dayen, he was Executive Director of the Company 
overseeing the Group’s businesses development and operations in China. 

 Mr Yau has more than 17 years of business development and corporate management experience in managing large companies and 
projects. Prior to joining Dayen, he was concurrently the Director (China) of Tee Yih Jia Pte Ltd and General Manager of Jiangsu Heng 
Shun Seasonings and Foods Limited (a joint venture between Tee Yih Jia Group and Jiangsu Heng Shun Group). He was also previously 
the Managing Director of CPG Facilities Management Company Limited (China Division). 

 Mr Yau has a Bachelor of Science (Management & Marketing) Degree from the University of Oregon, USA, and is currently pursuing a 
Masters of Science (Environmental Engineering) degree from the National University of Singapore. He is a member of the Phi Theta Kappa 
National Honour Fraternity and Golden Key National Honour Society.

1 2
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3. MR Low chAI chonG   (Independent Director) 

 Mr Low Chai Chong is an Advocate & Solicitor with the Supreme Court of Singapore. He joined M/s Rodyk & Davidson in 1986 and 
has been with the same firm for his entire career. He has over 20 years of legal experience representing MNCs, financial institutions 
and listed companies in a wide array of commercial and corporate matters including dispute resolutions. 

 Mr Low graduated from the National University of Singapore with a Bachelor of Laws (Honours) Degree. 

4. MR Mun hon phenG   (Independent Director)   

 Mr Mun Hon Pheng is currently the Managing Director of Sinergy Capital Pte Ltd and an Independent Director of Eagle Brand Holdings 
Ltd. He was formerly an Executive Director of Aztech Systems Ltd. Mr Mun’s career background is in structured finance, capital markets 
and loan restructuring, having worked in several international financial institutions in Singapore, China and Hong Kong. He has had 
extensive experience in debt and equity financing for private and public listed companies across industries, and in providing litigation 
advice to listed companies in relation to Intellectual Property, Contract and other types of disputes. 

 Mr Mun holds a Master of Business Administration from the Australian Graduate School of Management and a Bachelor 
of Commerce Degree in Accountancy and Information Systems from the University of New South Wales, Australia.  
He is a Fellow of the Singapore Institute of Arbitrators and a Member of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators, London. 

3 4
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EXECUTIVE 
OFFICERS

1. MR yAu wAI hoo ALAn   Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director

2. MR teo hocK henG   Chief Operating officer
 Mr Teo is responsible for growing sustainable revenue streams for Dayen through increasing the number of projects, maximising revenue 

from each project and delivering value to customers. He has over 20 years of experience in the environmental engineering industry, of 
which 10 were with the Company. Mr Teo moved progressively up the ranks from a Project Manager to head the Company’s technical 
division as Director in 2008, before his current appointment as Chief Operating Officer. Mr Teo started out as Executive Engineer with the 
Ministry of Environment and was Assistant Manager in Sembcorp Engineering Pte Ltd before subsequently joining Dayen. 

 Mr Teo graduated with a Degree in Electrical Engineering from the National University of Singapore. He is also a Professional Engineer 
registered with the Professional Engineers Board, Singapore and a Member of the Institution of Engineers, Singapore.

3. MR oh chee sIen dAnIeL   Chief Financial Officer
 Mr Daniel Oh joined Dayen on 17 September 2007 as Financial Controller. Currently as Chief Financial Officer, he is responsible for the 

Group’s corporate development, finance and treasury strategies. He also oversees the Group’s accounting and human resource functions. 
Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Oh held the position of Manager, Finance in Infocomm Development Authority of Singapore and Ministry 
of Community Development, Youth & Sports. Upon graduation, Mr. Oh was trained as an auditor at KPMG.

 Mr Oh graduated with a Bachelor of Accountancy (Honours) from the Nanyang Technological University of Singapore. He is a non practicing 
Member of the Institute of Certified Public Accountants (ICPAS).

1

2
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OPERATING AND 
FINANCIAL REVIEW
SUMMARY – THE YEAR 2009

oveRvIew
In 2009, the Group achieved 20% year-on-year growth from S$29.53 million for the financial 
year ended 30th September 2008 as compared to S$35.50 million for the year ended 30 
September 2009. 

As of 30 September 2009, the Group has an order book of about S$10.18 million. It is expected 
that about S$8.20 million of the order book will be fulfilled in the FY2010 and the remaining 
from FY2011 onwards. The order book is expected to contribute to the Group’s results, barring 
unforeseen circumstances. 

The business environment for the water and wastewater industry, in which the Group operates 
in, is expected to remain highly competitive. The global crunch, which impaired the availability of 
financial credit, has also led to a more challenging and difficult environment for the Group. Despite 
such a difficult environment, the demand for environmental services is still present for the local 
markets and overseas markets such as Middle East and Asia. The Group has a relatively low level 
of debt and has appropriate cash reserves to complete the existing projects.

Dayen has entered FY 2010 with additional two new projects in Bahrain and Qatar worth S$2.99 
million. Dayen will continue to pursue its strategic plan of expanding its business internationally 
with the main focus in Asia and Middle East markets.

The Group will continuously explore new opportunities to leverage on the strong technical track 
record but will remain selective in tendering for profitable projects with low credit risk. The credit 
markets continue to be challenging for new Build Operate and Transfer projects, as such the Group 
will be extremely selective in the bidding of such projects. The Group will pursue additional business 
streams in operations and maintenance as well as environmental related products. 

The Group will continue to develop technological and operational capabilities in water, wastewater 
and produced water treatment as part of the business vision to deliver sustainable solutions to the 
environmental industry. In addition, the Group will continue to focus on leveraging on strategic 
partnerships with reputable international partners to seek new synergies in oil water separation, 
microbiological wastewater and biomass treatment technologies.

BusIness RevIew
Dayen is one of Asia’s environmental engineering specialists providing integrated systems for water 
and wastewater treatment. Since its inception in 1986, Dayen has repeatedly secured substantial 
contracts from its key customers such as the Public Utilities Board (“PUB”) in Singapore. It holds 
the ME11 (L6) grade for mechanical engineering.

The Group’s business is focused on three main segments: Water treatment, Wastewater treatment, 
and Others (generic mechanical and electrical projects). In FY2009, the Water treatment business 
segment, at 71% of total revenue, showed a marginal increase of 1% against FY2008. However, 
the business segment under “Others” category grew by 6%, from 3% in FY2008 to 9% in FY2009. 
The increase was due to a significant project secured in Papua New Guinea worth S$3.38 million.

The Company’s growth initiatives showed positive progress in FY2009, with its overseas markets 
expanding by15%. In FY2009, international projects contributed S$22.28 million, or 63% of total 
sales turnover. The biggest projects came mainly from countries in Cambodia, Malaysia, and Papua 
New Guinea. While the percentage of revenue from the Singapore market dipped in percentage 
terms, the absolute sales turnover remained relatively stable, with FY2008 recording S$15.30 
million and FY2009 recording S$13.22 million.

1918



OPERATING AND 
FINANCIAL REVIEW
SUMMARY – THE YEAR 2009

Segmental     
Revenue %

2008

2008

Water

Waste Water

Others

2009

2009

Geographical     
Revenue %

International

Singapore

3%

27%

70%

9%

20%

71%

52%

48%

37%

63%
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sInGApoRe
   estimated 
 contract  time of
on-going projects value type completion
 s$‘000
PUB – M&E works for Marina Raw Water 
Pumping Station 12,255 Water FY2010

Koon Construction and Transport Pte Ltd – 
Punggol Serangoon Reservoir Scheme: Contract 2 
(Dams, gates, dreding ancillary works) 8,500 Water FY2011

PUB – Servicing and maintenance contract for 
Changi Water Reclamation Plant (Contract EP9 – 
Turbine generators) 1,310 Water FY2010

Interprime – Modification of pipelines in Jurong Island 557 Other FY2010

PUB – Replacement of inlet works at Jurong WRP 3,845 Waste FY2010

InteRnAtIonAL
   estimated 
 contract  time of
on-going projects value type completion
 s$‘000
CAMBODIA – Phnom Penh Water Supply 
Authority (PPWSA) - Extension of Phnom Penh 
Suburb Water Supply System -  Expansion of 
Chruoy Chang War Water Treatment Plan (II) 16,480 Water FY2010

PUB – Enhancement works at 
Johor River Waterworks Plants A & B 11,878 Water FY2011

UZBEKISTAN – Contract No. E11 
“Pumps and controls” 4,009 Water FY2010

PNG – PNG Power Limited Construction of 
Hidden Valley and ERAP substations 3,379 Other FY2010

MALAYSIA – Sea Horse Services Sdn Bhd
Turkmenistan MOPU – PW Treatment Unit 1,297 Water FY2010

OMAN – Lalbuksh Voltas Eng & Trading Design, 
supply, install, test and commissioning of up gradation 
of Marmul Industrial STP 80m3 to 250m3/day 925 Waste FY2010

OMAN – Lalbuksh Voltas Eng & Trading
Design, supply, install, test and commissioning 
of new 500m3/day sewage  treatment plant 767 Waste FY2010

QATAR – Waagner Biro Qatar W.L.L
Design, Fabricate, Assembly, Installation, Testing 
and putting into operation 2 x 40m3 Ultra-filtration 
(UF) skids for TSE Polishing Plant (Phase 1) 816 Waste FY2010

BAHRAIN – Supply, Supervision for installation and 
commissioning of the STP system. 2,170 Waste FY2010

*Projects listed are for contract value greater than $500k



OPERATING AND 
FINANCIAL REVIEW
SUMMARY – THE YEAR 2009

FInAncIAL MAnAGeMent
Dayen aims to exercise prudent financial management, minimizing unnecessary costs and expenses. 
It is committed to improving operational capabilities and efficiencies, achieving higher productivity 
and controlling internal cost to maintain a strong financial performance.

The Group presently has cash and bank balances of S$3.75 million (2008: S$2.40 million) and 
fixed deposits of S$7.21 million (2008: S$9.61 million) of which S$7.20 million (2008: S$9.37 
million) are pledged.

In the future, Dayen aims to maintain an optimal gearing ratio by maintaining an appropriate 
debt/equity balance. Through the fostering of new relationships with financial institutions, Dayen 
aims to fund part of its working capitals through credit facilities, short-term and long-term loans.

On 17 December 2009 Dayen announced a strategic Share Placement with Moya Holding Company 
BSC (“Moya”) for Moya to invest approximately S$20 million in cash, in return for shares and 
share options representing a 51% interest in the enlarged capital of Dayen. Moya is a Middle East 
water treatment and services company headquartered in Manama, the Kingdom of Bahrain. The 
completion of the project is subject to a number of conditions. The transaction is expected to be 
completed in the first quarter of 2010. The strategic alliance is expected to create a strong and 
dynamic player in the International market for innovative water solutions, particularly in Dayen’s 
core markets in Asia and the Middle East. 

FInAncIAL RevIew
consolidated Income statement 
year ended 30 september 2009
 Group
 2009 2008
 $’000 $’000
Revenue 35,499 29,531

Cost of sales (33,667) (31,142)
Gross profit / (loss) 1,832 (1,611)
Gross profit margin  5.16% (5.46%)
Other operating income 86 398

Administrative expenses (3,887) (5,052)

Other operating expenses (2,319) (8,280)

Results from operating activities (4,288) (14,545)

Finance costs  –*       (89)

Share of profit of an associate (net of tax) 69 (115)
Share of losses of jointly-controlled entities (net of tax) (1,359) (125)
Loss before tax (5,578) (14,874)

Income tax credit – 630
Loss for the year (5,578) (14,244)
Attributable to:    
Equity holders of the Company (5,529) (14,244)
Minority interest (49) -
Loss for the year (5,578) (14,244)

* less than S$1,000.
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(1) IncoMe stAteMent 
 Revenue
 The group’s revenue for the year ended 30 September 2009 increased by 20% from S$29.53 

million for the financial year ended 30 September 2008 as compared to S$35.50 million for 
the year ended 30 September 2009. The increase was due to several key projects in Johor 
Bauru (Malaysia), Cambodia and Singapore being significantly completed for the financial 
year ended 30 September 2009.

 Gross profit and Gross profit margin
 The Group registered a gross profit of S$1.83 million for the financial year ended 30 

September 2009 as compared to a gross loss of S$1.61 million for the financial year ended 
30 September 2008. The strong turnaround in gross profit margin from a negative 5.5% 
for the financial year ended 2008 to a positive 5.2% for the financial year ended 2009 was 
mainly attributed to the following factors:

•	 S$2.14	million	gross	profit	mainly	from	new	projects	secured	in	2008	in	Oman,	Johor	
Bahru (Malaysia) and Papua New Guinea. The newer projects were typically tendered 
for at higher gross profit margins. For the financial ended 30 September 2009, these 
new projects average a gross profit margin of 12.3%. The Company has achieved 72% 
of completion as at the financial year ended 30 September 2009. 

•	 S$1.36	million	gross	profit	mainly	from	maintenance	projects	in	Singapore	and	EPC	
projects in Uzbekistan and Brunei that were secured before 2008. The average margins 
improved from 5.4% to 15.7% due to tighter cost controls and stringent project 
management measures undertaken by the Management. 

•	 However,	the	Group	continued	to	face	difficulties	in	the	overseas	project	in	Cambodia	
and had to incur an additional project loss of S$2 million for the financial year ended 
30 September 2009. In the preceding financial year ended 30 September 2008, the 
Group had made an allowance for foreseeable losses of S$3 million for this project. 
This brings the total loss for the project to be estimated at S$5 million. The allowance 
for foreseeable losses for the financial year ended 30 September 2008 was due to 
the rapid cost escalation in 2007 and 2008 in terms of materials and labour costs, in 
addition to difficulties in the local geographical environment, resulted in additional 
costs for re-design and material usage. The additional project loss of S$2 million was 
due mainly to the irrecoverable income that was previously deemed recoverable under 
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OPERATING AND 
FINANCIAL REVIEW
SUMMARY – THE YEAR 2009

 Administration expenses
 Administration expenses decreased by S$1.16 million or 23% from S$5.05 million for the 

financial year ended 30 September 2008 to S$3.89 million for the financial year ended 30 
September 2009. The decrease was mainly due to the following factors: 

•	 Reduction	in	professional	fees	of	S$0.67	million	from	S$1.46	million	for	the	financial	
year ended 30 September 2008 to S$0.79 million for the financial year ended 30 
September 2009. The higher costs incurred for the financial year ended 30 September 
2008 was primarily attributed to non – water as well as non – wastewater treatment 
business expansion plans. The Group is currently focusing only on environmental related 
activities, with the water and wastewater treatment sector as the main growth engine. 

•	 Reduction	in	administrative	staff	costs	of	S$0.40	million	from	S$2.04	million	for	the	
financial year ended 30 September 2008 to S$1.64 million for the financial year ended 
30 September 2009. The higher costs incurred for the financial year ended 2008 was 
mainly due to  non – water as well as non – wastewater treatment business expansion 
plans. In addition, the stringent cost management efforts were also undertaken in the 
financial year ended 30 September 2009.

 the fluctuation clause allowed for in the contract. For the financial year ended 30 
September 2008, it was assessed an additional S$3.2 million would be recoverable 
based on the stipulated price. However, the actual amount recovered for the financial 
year ended 30 September 2009 was only S$1.5 million. The project has been 
substantially completed at 98.4% and the Group has received both the certificate of 
completion and temporary certificate of operational acceptance. The final assessment 
for full operational acceptance is scheduled in the first quarter of 2010 and all material 
project costs have been incurred to date, with an allowance for foreseeable losses of 
S$0.36 million to be incurred after the financial year ended 30 September 2009.
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 other expenses
 Other expenses decreased by S$5.96 million or 72% from S$8.28 million for the financial 

year ended 30 September 2008 to S$2.32 million for the financial year ended 30 September 
2009. The decrease was mainly due to the following factors:

•	 Reduction	in	the	impairment	loss	of	S$4.87	million	in	available-for-sale	investment.	
For the financial year ended 30 September 2008, S$5.83 million impairment loss was 
made due to the diminution in value of the Group’s investment in Indonesia’s PT ATPK 
Resources TBk (“ATPK”) based on the mark to market valuation approach. For the 
financial year ended 2009, there was a further diminution in value of S$0.96 million 
for the Group’s investment in ATPK based on the same valuation approach. The share 
price used for valuation as at 30 September 2009 was Rupiah 2551 , compared to the 
Rupiah 2552 share price used for valuation as at 30 September 2008. 

•	 Reduction	in	the	allowance	for	doubtful	debt	–	other	receivables	of	S$0.94	million.	For	
the financial year ended 30 September 2008, the advance payment of S$1.43 million 
made to PT Modal Investasi Mineral under the Mining Right Agreement dated 18 
December 2007 was accounted for as allowance for doubtful debt (other receivables). 
The Company is in the final stage of legal negotiation on the settlement that is likely 
to be installment based. There was only an addition of S$0.49 million allowance for 
doubtful debt relating to the other receivable from Dayen AquaBlu Technologies Pte 
Ltd, a joint venture company for the year ended 30 September 2009. 

•	 Reduction	in	business	travelling	and	accommodation	expenses	by	S$0.32	million	from	
S$0.42 million for the financial year ended 30 September 2008 to S$0.10 million for 
the financial year ended 2009. The higher costs incurred for the financial year ended 
30 September 2008 was mainly due to non – water as well as non – wastewater 
treatment business expansion plans. In addition, the stringent cost management 
efforts were also undertaken.
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 share of profits / (losses) of an associate (net of tax)
 Share of profits of an associate amounted to S$0.07 million for the financial year ended 

30 September 2009 compared to a loss of S$0.12 million for the financial year ended 30 
September 2008. The improvement is due to Shenfei Dayen Environmental Limited (China) 
delivering profits from its operations on the wastewater treatment Build – Operate – Transfer 
Project in DiaoBingShan City, PRC and the adoption of INT FRS 112. 

 share of losses of jointly-controlled entities
 Share of losses of jointly-controlled entities amounted to S$1.36 million for the financial 

year ended 30 September 2009 compared to S$0.13 million for the financial year ended 30 
September 2008. This is mainly due to the impairment losses for the joint venture company, 
Pizhou Water Holdings Pte Ltd (“Pizhou Water”). Pizhou Water’s wholly-owned subsidiary, 
Pizhou Penyao Water Pte Ltd (“Pizhou Penyao”), was set up as the special purpose company 
in the PRC to undertake the Build – Operate – Transfer project for the Phase 1 development 
of facility to supply 50,000 m3/day of treated water to Pizhou City. Due to a change in Pizhou 
City’s master plan and its delay in giving approval for the water intake source, it became 
commercially non-viable for the project to proceed to the operating phase. Pizhou Penyao 
is currently in dialogue to reach a consensus on appointing an independent valuer to assess 
the financial implications of the project. As the entire arbitration process is lengthy and the 
recoverability of the investment can no longer be ascertained, the resulting full impairment 
on the investment in the jointly controlled entity was made.

(2) BALAnce sheet
  Group
  2008 2009 change
   $’000 $’000  %

current assets   
-  Cash and bank balances 10,961 12,012 (8.7)
-  Trade and other receivables 8,401 8,574 (2.0)
-  Contract work-in-progress 940 5,804 (83.8)
-  Other investment 2,253 3,212 (29.9)
 22,555 29,602 (23.8)
non-current assets 5,362 4,678 14.6
total assets 27,917 34,280 (18.6)
total liabilities (10,026) (13,226) (24.2)
 17,891 21,054 (15.0)
 
equity attributable to equity holders 
of the company 17,891 21,054 (15.0)

 The Group’s shareholders’ equity decreased to S$17.89 million as at 30 September 2009 
from S$21.04 million as at 30 September 2008. The decrease was mainly due to the net 
loss for the year ended 30 September 2009. 
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 current Assets
 Current assets decreased by S$7.04 million to S$22.56 million as at 30 September 2009 

from S$29.60 million as at 30 September 2008. The decrease is due mainly to the following 
factors: 
•	 Diminution	in	the	value	of	the	Group’s	investment	in	ATPK	based	on	the	mark	to	

market valuation approach by S$0.96 million. 

•	 Decrease	in	contracts	work-in-progress	by	S$4.86	million.	

•	 Decrease	in	cash	&	bank	balances	by	S$1.05	million.	

 non-current Assets 
 Non-current assets increased by S$0.68 million to S$5.36 million as at 30 September 2009 

from S$4.68 million as at 30 September 2008. The increase is due mainly to the increase 
in long-term retention receivables of S$1.22 million, partially offset by the decrease due to 
the impairment of the leasehold building based on the mark to market valuation approach. 

 total Liabilities
 Total liabilities decreased by S$3.20 million to S$10.03 million as at 30 September 2009 from 

S$13.23 million as at 30 September 2008. The decrease is due mainly to the following factors:
•	 Decrease	in	excess	of	progress	billings	over	contract	work-in-progress	by	S$0.40	million.	

•	 Decrease	in	trade	and	other	payables	by	S$3.30	million.	This	is	due	mainly	to	the	
decrease in the Group’s trade payables by S$2.68 million for the Cambodia project 
in the second half of the financial year ended 30 September 2008. 

•	 Increase	in	redeemable	cumulative	convertible	preference	shares	of	a	subsidiary	by	
S$0.50 million.

(3) cAsh And cAsh eQuIvALents
 The movements in cash and cash equivalents during both financial years are set out as 

follows: 

cash flow statement 2009 2008
 $’000 $’000 
cash flows from operating activities (3,888) (8,119)
cash flows from investing activities 375 (10,534)
cash flows from financing activities 3,161 19,569
cash and cash equivalents at end of year 1,772 2,138

 The Group’s net cash used in operating activities was approximately S$3.89 million. This 
was mainly due to the loss incurred by the Group and changes in working capital. 

 Net cash generated in investing activities was approximately S$0.38 million. 

 Net cash generated from financing activities of approximately S$3.16 million was mainly due 
to fixed deposits and bank balance pledged to banks of approximately S$2.67 million, and 
issue of redeemable cumulative convertible preference shares by subsidiary of S$0.5 million. 

 As a result of the above, there was a net decrease of S$0.35 million in cash and cash 
equivalents. 
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CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

The Board of Directors of Dayen Environmental Limited is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance by complying 
with the benchmark set by the Singapore Code of Corporate Governance 2005 (“Code”). This establishes and maintains a legal and ethical 
environment in the Group to preserve the interests of all shareholders. 

This report describes the Company’s corporate governance practices with references to the principles of the Code. Where there are deviations 
from the Code, appropriate explanations are provided. 

1. BOARD MATTERS
 

Board’s Conduct of its Affairs

Principle 1: Every company should be headed by an effective Board to lead and control the company. The Board is 
collectively responsible for the success of the company. The Board works with Management to achieve 
this and the Management remains accountable to the Board. 

Our Policy and Practices: 

The principal functions of the Board, apart from its statutory responsibilities, are:

i. Guiding the formulation of the Group’s overall long-term strategic objectives and directions;

ii. Overseeing the process of evaluating the adequacy of internal controls, risk management, financial reporting and compliance;

iii. Approving corporate restructuring matters, major investment and divestment proposals, material acquisitions and disposals 
of assets, major corporate policies on key areas of operations, commitments to term loans and lines of credit from banks 
and financial institutions, annual budget, approval of annual reports and financial statements, convening of shareholders’ 
meetings, dividend payment, the release of the Group’s quarterly and full year results and interested person transactions of 
a material nature; 

iv. Overseeing the business and affairs of the of the Group, establishing with the Management the strategies and financial 
objectives to be implemented and monitoring the performance of Management; and 

v. Assuming responsibility for corporate governance.

The Board is made up of one-third non-Executive Directors who are independent of Management and have the right core 
competencies and diversity of experience to enable them, in their collective wisdom, to contribute effectively. Every Director is 
expected, in the course of carrying out his duties, to act in good faith, provide insights and consider at all times, the interests of 
the Company. 

The Board has established three board committees to assist in the execution of its responsibilities. They are the Audit Committee 
(“AC”), the Remuneration Committee (“RC”) and the Nominating Committee (“NC”). The terms of reference and compositions 
of each board committee are presented in the following sections of this Report. 
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The Board conducts meetings at least twice yearly in addition to ad-hoc meetings. The Articles of Association of the Company 
provide for Directors to conduct meetings by teleconferencing or video conferencing. The attendance of the directors at meetings 
of the Board during the financial year is as follows:

Board/Committees Board Audit Remuneration Nominating

No. of meetings held 5  3 1 2

Directors No. of meetings attended

Low Chai Chong 5  3 1 2

Yau Wai Hoo 5  3 1 2

Ling Yew Kong 4  2 - 1

Mun Hon Pheng 4  2 - 1

Lee Thian Guan John (Resigned) 5  2 1 2

Darren Tan Poon Guan (Resigned) 1  1 1 1

Kwa Kim Chiong (Resigned) 2  1 1 2

Kor Hock Lai (Resigned) 1  1 1 1

Mr Ling Yew Kong was appointed to the Board on 12 February 2009. 

Mr Mun Hon Pheng was appointed to the Board on 12 February 2009.

The Group has adopted a set of Approving Authority Limits, setting out the level of authorisation required for specified transactions, 
including those that require Board approval. 

All new directors are briefed on the Group’s history and core values, business and organisation structure, its strategic direction 
and corporate governance practices as well as industry-specific knowledge. Familiarisation visits, including overseas plants, are 
organised, if necessary, to facilitate a better understanding of the Group’s operations. The Company has an ongoing budget for all 
directors to receive further relevant training of their choice in connection with their duties. Relevant courses include programmes 
run by the Singapore Institute of Directors or other training institutions. 

Board Committees
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Board Composition and Balance

Principle 2: There should be a strong and independent element on the Board, which is able to exercise objective 
judgement on corporate affairs independently, in particular, from Management. No individual or small 

group of individuals should be allowed to dominate the Board’s decision making. 

Our Policy and Practices:

Currently, the Board consists of four Directors of whom two are considered independent1 by the Board. There is a strong and 
independent element on the Board, with independent directors constituting more than one-third of the Board. This enables 
Management to benefit from their external, diverse and objective perspective of issues that are brought before the Board. It 
also allows the Board to interact and work with Management through a constructive exchange of ideas and views to shape the 
strategic process. 

The independence of each Director is reviewed by the NC on an annual basis. The NC adopts the Code’s definition of what 
constitutes an independent director in its review. One of the Directors, Mr Low Chai Chong, is a Partner at Rodyk and Davison LLP 
(“R&D) which provide legal and professional advice to the Group. The NC is of the view that that business relationship with R&D 
will not interfere with the exercise of independent judgement by Mr Low in his role as an independent director as the concerned 
transactions were handled by the other partners of R&D and had commenced prior to Mr Low’s appointment as an independent 
director of the Company. The Board has reviewed and is satisfied as to the independence of the respective independent Directors. 

The Board has examined its size and is of the opinion that its an appropriate size for effective decision-making, taking into the 
account the scope and nature of the operations of the Company and the Group. The NC opined that no individual or small group 
of individuals dominate the Board’s decision making process. 

The Board has the appropriate mix of expertise and experience, and collectively possesses the necessary core competencies 
for effective functioning and informed decision making. Each Director has been appointed based on the strength of his calibre, 
experience and stature and is expected to bring a valuable range of experience and expertise to contribute to the development 
of Group strategy and performance of its business. 

The non executive directors communicate regularly to discuss matters such as the Group’s financial performance and corporate 
governance measures. 

The nature of the Directors’ appointments on the Board, and details of their memberships in the Board Committees are set out below:

Director Board Membership Audit Remuneration Nominating

Ling Yew Kong non-Executive non-Independent Chairman Member Member Member

Yau Wai Hoo Alan Executive Director - - -

Mun Hong Pheng Independent Director Member Chairman Member

Low Chai Chong Independent Director Chairman Member Chairman

1 According to the Code, an “independent” Director is defined as one who has no relationship with the Company, its related companies or its officers that could interfere, or be 
reasonably perceived to interfere, with the exercise of the Director’s independent business judgement with a view to the best interests of the Company.

Board Committees
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Principle 3: There should be a clear division of responsibilities at the top of the company – the working of the Board 
and the executive responsibility of the company’s business – which will ensure a balance of power and 
authority, such that no one individual represents a considerable concentration of power. 

Our Policy and Practices: 

Mr Lee Thian Guan John stepped down as the Executive Chairman on 16 February 2009 to take over the Deputy Executive Chairman 
position. Mr Ling Yew Kong was appointed as the non-Executive non-Independent Chairman on 16 February 2009. Mr Tan Poon 
Guan Darren was appointed as the Managing Director on 1 September 2008 but stepped down on 12 February 2009. Mr Yau 
Wai Hoo was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer on 16 February 2009. 

There is a clear division of responsibilities between the non-Executive non-Independent Chairman and Chief Executive Officer to 
ensure that there is a balance of power and authority. 

As the non-Executive non-Independent Chairman, Mr Ling Yew Kong is primarily responsible for strategic guidance and charting 
new directions for the Company. In addition, he is to also ensure each member of the Board and Management works well together 
with integrity and competency. As the non-Executive non-Independent Chairman, he, with the assistance of the Company Secretary 
and Chief Financial Officer, schedules Board meeting as and when required and sets the agenda (in consultation with the Chief 
Executive Officer) for Board meetings. In addition, he ensures quality, accurateness and timeliness of information flow between 
the Board and Management. He encourages constructive relations between the Board and Management and between the Chief 
Executive Officer and the independent directors. He also takes a leading role in ensuring the Group’s compliance with corporate 
governance guidelines. 

As the Chief Executive Officer Mr Yau Wai Hoo is primarily responsible for carrying out the strategies and policies as established 
by the Board and ensures the Directors are kept updated and informed of the Group’s business.

Board Membership

Principle 4: There should be a formal and transparent process for the appointment of new directors to the Board. 

Our Policy and Practices:

The NC was established on 21 June 2002. The NC comprises 3 Directors, of whom 2 are independent non-executive Directors and 
1 is non-executive, non-independent Director. 

Chairman: Low Chai Chong (independent non-Executive Director)

Member: Mun Hon Pheng (independent non-Executive Director)
 Ling Yew Kong (non-Independent, non-Executive Director)

Mr Low Chai Chong is not associated with any substantial shareholder. 

The main role of the Committee is to make the process of Board appointments and re-appointments transparent, and to assess 
the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the contribution of individual Directors to the effectiveness of the Board.
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The terms of reference of the Committee are as follows:

i. Recommend appointment and reappointment of Directors;

ii. Review annually the independence of each Director, and ensure that the Board comprises at least one-third 
independent Directors;

iii. Decide, where a Director has multiple board representation, whether the director is able to and has been adequately carrying 
out his duties as director of the Company;

iv. Decide how the Board’s performance may be evaluated and propose objective performance criteria to assess effectiveness 
of the Board; and

v. Perform assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the contribution of individual Directors.

The NC is charged with the responsibility of re-nominating the Directors. Under the Company’s Articles of Association, each Director 
(except the Managing Director) is required to retire at least once in every three years by rotation and all newly appointed Directors 
will have to retire at the next Annual General Meeting following their appointment. The retiring Directors are eligible to offer 
themselves for re-election. The NC has recommended the re-appointment of 1 retiring Director, namely Messr Mun Hon Pheng at 
this forthcoming Annual General Meeting. The Board has accepted the NC’s recommendation.

The NC is charged with determining annually whether or not a Director is independent. The NC is of the view that the Independent 
Directors are independent. 

When a director has multiple board representations, the NC also considers whether or not the Director is able to and has adequately 
carried out his duties as a Director of the Company. The NC is satisfied that sufficient time and attention are being given by the 
Directors to the affairs of the Company, notwithstanding that some of the Directors have multiple board representations. 

The NC, in consultation with the Board, determines the selection criteria and identifies candidates with the appropriate expertise 
and experience for the appointment of new directors. The NC then nominates the most suitable candidate who is then appointed 
to the Board. 

The dates of initial appointment and re-election of the Directors are set out below:

Director Position Date of Initial Appointment Date of Last Re-election

Yau Wai Hoo Executive Director 9 May 2008 12 February 2009

Low Chai Chong Independent Director 14 August 2008 12 February 2009

Mun Hon Pheng Independent Director 12 February 2009 12 February 2009

Ling Yew Kong non-Independent  12 February 2009 12 February 2009
 non-Executive Director

Information on Directors

Information required in respect of the academic and professional qualification, directorship or chairmanship in other listed companies 
is set out in the “Board of Directors” section.

Information on shareholdings in the Company held by each director is set out in the “Directors’ Report” section of the Annual Report.
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Board Performance

Principle 5: There should be a formal assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the contribution 
by each director to the effectiveness of the Board. 

Our Policy and Practices:

The NC is of the view that the primary objective of the assessment exercise is to create a platform for the Board members to 
encourage feedback on the Board’s strengths and shortcomings with a view to strengthening the effectiveness of the Board as a 
whole. The review of the Board’s performance is undertaken collectively by the Board annually and informally on a continual basis 
by the NC with inputs from the Board members. 

Access to Information

Principle 6: In order to fulfil their responsibilities, Board members should be provided with complete, adequate 
and timely information prior to board meetings and on an on-going basis.

Our Policy and Practices:

Management is required to provide adequate and timely information to the Board on group affairs and issues that require the 
Board’s decision as well as ongoing reports relating to operational and financial performance of the group. Where a physical Board 
meeting is not possible, timely communication with members of the Board is effected through other means, e.g. electronic mail and 
teleconferencing. Alternatively, management will arrange to personally meet and brief each director before seeking the Board’s 
approval on a particular issue. Any requests by directors for further explanations, briefings or informal discussions on any aspect 
of the Group’s operations are always facilitated expeditiously. The members of the Board in their individual capacity have access to 
complete information on a timely basis in the form and quality necessary for the discharge of their duties and responsibilities. Prior 
to each Board meeting, the members of the Board are each provided with the relevant documents and information to enable them 
to obtain a comprehensive understanding of the issues to be deliberated upon to enable them to arrive at an informed decision.

The Board have direct access to management and the advice and services of the Company Secretary, who attends all Board meetings 
and is responsible for ensuring that Board meeting procedures are followed and that applicable rules, acts and regulations are 
complied with.

The Board has direct access to the Group’s independent professional advisors. Any cost of obtaining professional advice will be 
borne by the Company. 

2. REMUNERATION MATTERS

Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies

Principle 7: There should be a formal and transparent policy on executive remuneration and for fixing the 
remuneration packages of individual directors. No director should be involved in deciding his own 
remuneration.
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Our Policy and Practices:

The RC was established on 1 April 2002. The RC comprises 3 Directors, of whom 2 are independent non-executive Directors and 
1 is non-executive, non-independent Director.

Chairman: Mun Hon Pheng (Independent non-Executive Director)

Member: Low Chai Chong (Independent non-Executive Director)
 Ling Yew Kong (non-Independent, non-Executive Director)

The terms of reference of the Committee are as follows:

i. Recommend to the Board a framework of remuneration for the Executive Directors and other key members of executive 
management;

ii. Determine specific remuneration packages for each Executive Director;

iii. To review and recommend to the Board the terms of renewal of the service agreements of Executive Directors;

iv. Determine targets for any performance related pay schemes operated by the Company; and

v. Administer the Dayen Employees’ Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”) in accordance with the rules of the Scheme.

No Director is involved in deciding his own remuneration. The RC members are familiar with executive compensation matters as 
they manage their own business and/or hold other directorships in the boards of other listed companies. The RC has access to 
appropriate expert advice in the field of executive compensation outside the Company where required. 

Level and Mix of Remuneration
Principle 8: The level of remuneration should be appropriate to attract, retain and motivate the directors needed to 

run the company successfully but companies should avoid paying more for this purpose. A significant 
proportion of executive directors’ remuneration should be structured so as to link rewards to corporate 
and individual performance. 

Our Policy and Practices: 

The RC will ensure that the Directors are adequately but not excessively remunerated. The RC will also consider amongst other 
things, their responsibilities and contribution to the Company’s performance and ensure that rewards are linked to corporate and 
individual performance. 

All Independent and non-Executive Directors have no service agreements with the Company. They are paid directors’ fees, which 
are determined by the Board in accordance with their contributions, taking into account factors such as effort and time spent, 
responsibilities of the directors and the need to pay competitive fees to attract, motivate and retain the directors. The fees are 
subject to approval by shareholders at each AGM. Except as disclosed, the Independent and non-Executive Directors do not receive 
any remuneration from the Company. 

The RC will review the service agreement of all Executive Directors to ensure there are no excessively long or with onerous removal 
clauses. All executive Directors have in their service contract notice period 3 months or less.

The RC administers the Dayen Employees’ Share Option Scheme in accordance with rules of the Scheme. 
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Disclosure on Remuneration

Principle 9: Each company should provide clear disclosure of its remuneration policy, level and mix of remuneration, 
and the procedure for setting remuneration in the company’s annual report. It should provide disclosure 
in relation to its remuneration policies to enable investors to understand the link between remuneration 
paid to directors and key executives, and performance. 

 
Our Policy and Practices:

The remuneration policy adopted by the Group comprises a fixed component and variable component. The fixed component is in 
the form of a base salary. The variable component is in the form of a variable or performance bonus that is linked to corporate 
performance and individual performance. 

Breakdown of remuneration of each Director by % (financial year ended 30 September 2009)

Remuneration Band Salary Directors’ Variable or Performance Total
& Name of Director and CPF Fees Related Income/Bonus 

Below $250,000    

Yau Wai Hoo Alan 100% - - 100%

Low Chai Chong - 100% - 100%

Mun Hon Pheng - 100% - 100%

Ling Yew Kong - 100% - 100%

Lee Thian Guan John (Resigned) 100% - - 100%

Tan Poon Guan Darren (Resigned) 100% - - 100%

Kwa Kim Chiong (Resigned) - 100% - 100%

Kor Hock Lai (Resigned) - 100% - 100%

For the financial year ended 30 September 2009, the top 5 key executives (who are not Directors) of the Company are Messrs 
Teo Hock Heng, Lim Eng Teck, Lee Kuwang Chua, Choo Swee Seng and Oh Chee Sien. The remuneration of each of these 5 key 
executives did not exceed $250,000. 

No employee of the Company and its subsidiary was an immediate family member of any Director and whose remuneration has 
exceeded $150,000 during the financial year ended 30 September 2009. “Immediate family member” means the spouse, child, 
adopted child, stepchild, brother, sister and parent.

Details of the ESOS are set out on pages 43 and 44 of the Annual Report. 
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3. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Accountability

Principle 10:  The Board should present a balanced and understandable assessment of the company’s performance, 
position and prospects. 

Our Policy and Practices:

It is the aim of the Board to provide shareholders with a detailed analysis, explanation and assessment of the Group’s financial 
position and prospects. The Directors have access to management at all times. Management currently provides the Board with 
detailed cash flow analysis on a monthly basis and detailed financial information on the Group on a quarterly basis. 

Audit Committee

Principle 11: The Board should establish an Audit Committee with written terms of reference which clearly set out 
its authority and duties. 

Our Policy and Practices:

The AC was established on 1 April 2002. The AC comprises 3 Directors, all are independent non-executive Directors.

Chairman: Low Chai Chong (independent non-executive Director)

Member: Mun Hon Pheng (independent non-executive Director)
 Ling Yew Kong (non-independent, non-executive Director)

The profile of the members of the AC is set out in the “Board of Directors” section. The members of the AC, collectively, have the 
expertise or experience in financial management and are qualified to discharge the AC’s responsibilities. 

The terms of reference of the Committee are as follows:

i Review the audit plan and the audit report in conjunction with the external auditors;

ii Review the assistance given by the Company’s officers to the external and internal auditors;

iii Review the adequacy of the Company’s internal controls;

iv Review the significant financial reporting issues and judgement so as to ensure the integrity of the financial statements of 
the Company and any formal announcements relating to the Company’s performance;

v Review the cost effectiveness of the external audit, and where the independent auditor provides non-audit services to the 
Company, to review the nature, extent and costs of such services so as to avoid an erosion of the independence and objectivity 
of the external auditors;

vi Review the financial statements of the Company, including the quarterly and year and full year results and the respective 
announcements before the submission to the Board of Directors;
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vii Recommend to the Board the appointment, re-appointment or removal of external auditors and approve the remuneration 
and terms of engagement of the external auditors;

viii Review interested person transactions to ensure that each has been conducted on an arm’s length basis.

The AC has the explicit authority to investigate any matter within its terms of reference. It has full access to, and co-operation of 
the Management and the full discretion to invite any Director or executive officer to attend its meetings. The AC has adequate 
resources to enable it to discharge its functions properly. 

There was no non-audit related work carried out by the external auditors during the current financial year. The AC is satisfied with 
their independence and  is pleased to confirm their re-nomination.

The AC meets regularly with the Management and the external auditors to review accounting, auditing and financial reporting 
matters so as to ensure that an effective system of control is maintained in the Group. 

The AC also meets with the external auditors and reviews the scope and results of the external audit. The AC may meet the internal 
and external auditors at any time, without the presence of the Company’s management.

The Board and Audit Committee are satisfied the appointment of different auditors for its subsidiaries or significant associated 
companies would not compromise the standard and effectiveness of the audit of the issuer.

Internal Controls

Principle 12: The Board should ensure that the Management maintains a sound system of internal controls to 
safeguard the shareholders’ investments and the company’s assets.

Our Policy and Practices:

The AC acknowledges that it is responsible for maintaining a sound system of internal controls to safeguard shareholders’ interests 
and maintain accountability of its assets. While no cost-effective internal control system can provide absolute assurance against 
loss or misstatement, the Group’s internal controls and systems have been designed to provide reasonable assurance that assets 
are safeguarded, operational controls are in place, business risks are suitably protected, proper accounting records are maintained 
and financial information used within the business and for publication, are reasonable and accurate. 

The AC had commissioned an internal controls review by Deloitte & Touche Enterprise Risk Services Pte Ltd (“Deloitte”) in mid 
October 2009. The Internal Controls Review by Deloitte covered the new controls and corporate governance procedures which 
had been implemented by the Company during the period from April 2009 to June 2009. The Audit Committee has reviewed the 
observations made by Deloitte and notes that there were no significant observations. The Audit Committee will work closely with 
management to adopt the recommendations of Deloitte in a systematic and progressive manner.

Internal Audits (“IA”)

Principle 13: The Company should establish an internal audit function that is independent of the activities it audits.
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Our Policy and Practices:

The AC continuously reviews the cost-effectiveness and adequacy of the Group’s internal system with the internal and external 
auditors. The AC had approved the appointment of an internal audit manager with external auditing experience and CPA qualification 
who reports directly to the AC Chairman on internal audit matters. The internal audit manager will either work independently and/
or with external consultants who meet or exceed the standards set by nationally or internationally recognised professional bodies 
including the Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing set by The Institute of Internal Auditors. 

The internal audit plan is prepared in consultation with, but independent of the Management. The audit plan will be submitted 
to the AC for approval prior to commencement of the internal audit. 

4. COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Communication with Shareholders

Principle 14: Companies should engage in regular, effective and fair communication with shareholders. 

The Board believes in regular and timely communication of information to shareholders and the public. It is the Company’s policy 
that all shareholders and the public should be equally and timely informed of all major developments that impact the Company. 
Communication is made through:

i Annual reports that are issued to all shareholders;

ii Announcement of quarterly results on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited’s SGXNET;

iii Disclosures on the SGXNET;

iv Press releases on major developments of the Company; and

v Company’s website at www.dayen.com.sg from which shareholders can access information on the Company.

Greater Shareholder Participation
Principle 15: Companies should encourage greater shareholder participation at AGMs, and allow shareholders the 

opportunity to communicate their views on various matters affecting the company. 

Our Policy and Practices:

The Articles of Association allow a shareholder of the Company to appoint up to two proxies to attend the AGM and vote in place 
of the shareholder. 

The Board supports the Code’s principle that there should be separate resolutions at general meetings on each substantially 
separate issue and “bundling” resolutions will be avoided unless the resolutions are interdependent and interlinked. In the event 
that there are resolutions which are interlinked, the Board will explain the reasons and material implications. 

The Annual General Meeting is the principal forum for dialogue with shareholders. There is an open question and answer session at 
which shareholders may raise questions or share their views regarding the proposed resolutions and the Company’s businesses and 
affairs. The Chairman of the Board, the Board members and the external auditors are in attendance at the Annual General Meeting.
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5. SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

All Directors and officers of the Company are not allowed to deal in the Company’s securities whilst in possession of unpublished 
price sensitive information. They are not allowed to deal in the Company’s securities during the period commencing two weeks before 
the announcement of the Company’s quarterly results or one month before the announcement of the Company’s full year results. 

6. INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

The Company has established internal control policies to ensure that transactions with interested persons are properly reviewed 
and approved, and are conducted at arm’s length basis.

During the financial year, there were no material contracts entered into by the Company and its subsidiaries involving the interests 
of the directors or substantial shareholders of the Company. 

7. RISK MANAGEMENT AND PROCESSES

i. Investment risk 
The Group will be extremely selective in investing in new BOT (“Build-Operate-Transfer”) and TOT (“Transfer-Operate-Transfer”) 
projects as extensive and satisfactory due diligence work will have to be conducted. Such projects must be consistent with the 
Group’s strategies in focusing on the Group’s businesses. All major proposals are carefully evaluated and must meet minimum 
threshold hurdles and be assessed, to be within tolerable risks parameters (political risks, legal and regulatory risks, force majeure 
risks, construction completion risks, operating risks, finance risks and revenue risks) and they must be submitted to the Board for 
the necessary review and approval. 

ii. Project risk 
In the normal course of the provision of the Group’s services, the Group tenders for and secures large scale projects. The Group’s 
financial performance is dependent on its ability to secure such contracts or tenders that are profitable. For sizable tenders, a 
detailed analysis encompassing project execution risks, technical risks, cash flow implications is prepared for the Board’s approval. 
After securing these projects, the Group has to ensure that the projects are completed in a timely fashion and within the Group’s 
budgeted costs. The Group implements a project budgeting and monitoring system to ensure timely reviews are conducted. 

iii. Compliance and legal risks 
Proper advice from external legal advisors and/or other professionals, is also obtained where necessary, to assist in identifying 
and providing the necessary support to manage the compliance and legal risks across the Group.

iv. Financial risk 
The Group’s financial risk management’s objectives and policies are set out in note [ ] of the Notes to the Financial Statements, 
found on pages 81 to 86 of the Annual Report.

8. CATALIST SPONSOR

Dayen Environment Ltd has on 20 March 2009 announced its transition to the Catalist Sponsored Supervised Regime and the 
Company is required to comply with the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST, Section B: Rules of Catalist, with effect from 20 April 2009. 

Pursuant to Rule 1204 (20) of the SGX-ST Listing Manual Section B: Rules of Catalist, the Sponsor, Collins Stewart Pte Ltd received 
$46,848 in FY2009 as the Issue Manager for the Rights Issue completed in FY2009.
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DIRECTORS’ 
REPORT
YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2009

We are pleased to submit this annual report to the members of the Company together with the audited financial statements for the financial 
year ended 30 September 2009.

DIRECTORS
The directors in office at the date of this report are as follows:
Ling Yew Kong (Appointed on 12 February 2009)
Yau Wai Hoo Alan 
Low Chai Chong 
Mun Hon Pheng (Appointed on 12 February 2009)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
According to the register kept by the Company for the purposes of Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”), 
particulars of interests of directors who held office at the end of the financial year (including those held by their spouses and infant children) 
in shares in the Company (other than wholly-owned subsidiaries) are as follows:

 Holdings Holdings
Name of director and corporation in at beginning of the year/ at end
which interests are held date of appointment of the year

The Company
Ordinary shares

Lee Thian Guan John 21,500,000 3,425,000
Ling Yew Kong 5,520,000 5,520,000
Yau Wai Hoo Alan 22,000 33,000

Options to subscribe for ordinary shares 
at $0.05 between 24/03/2009 to 23/3/2019  

Lee Thian Guan John –       8,000,000
Yau Wai Hoo Alan –       3,800,000

Options to subscribe for ordinary shares 
at $0.05 between 24/3/2009 to 23/3/2014

Ling Yew Kong –       500,000
Low Chai Chong –       500,000
Mun Hon Pheng –       500,000

Except as disclosed in this report, no director who held office at the end of the financial year had interests in shares, debentures, warrants 
or share options of the Company or of related corporations, either at the beginning of the financial year or date of appointment, if later, or 
at the end of the financial year.

There were no changes in any of the abovementioned interests in the Company between the end of the financial year and 21 October 2009.

Except as disclosed under the “Share Options” section of this report, neither at the end of, nor at any time during the financial year, was 
the Company a party to any arrangement whose objects are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the Company to acquire 
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.
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Except for salaries, bonuses and fees and those benefits that are disclosed in this report and in note 23 to the financial statements, since the 
end of the last financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit by reason of a contract made by the Company or a 
related corporation with the director, or with a firm of which he is a member, or with a company in which he has a substantial financial interest.

SHARE OPTIONS
The Dayen Employee Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) of the Company was approved and adopted by its members at an Extraordinary 
General Meeting held on 27 February 2002. The Scheme is administered by the Company’s Remuneration Committee (the “Committee”) whose 
function is to assist the Board of Directors in reviewing remuneration and related matters. The Committee is responsible for the administration 
of the Scheme and comprises 3 Directors, Mun Hon Pheng, Ling Yew Kong and Low Chai Chong.

Other information regarding the Scheme is set out as below:

•	 Persons	eligible	to	participate	in	the	Scheme	include	present	and	future	full-time	employees	and	Directors	(both	executive	and	non-
executive). Controlling shareholders and their associates (both as defined in the SGX Listing Manual) are not eligible to participate 
in the Scheme;

•	 The	aggregate	number	of	shares	to	be	delivered	shall	not	exceed	15%	of	the	total	issued	share	capital	of	the	Company	from	
time to time;

•	 The	exercise	price	of	the	options	can	be	set	at	the	Market	Price	(defined	as	the	average	of	the	last	dealt	prices	for	a	Share	for	the	 
3 consecutive trading days preceding the relevant date of grant of option) and/or at a discount to the market price not exceeding 
20% of the Market Price;

•	 The	options	can	be	exercised	1	year	after	the	grant	for	market	price	options	and	2	years	for	discounted	options;

•	 All	options	are	granted	at	a	nominal	value	of	$1.00	and	are	settled	by	physical	delivery	of	shares;	and

•	 The	options	granted	expire	after	5	years	from	date	of	grant	for	non-executive	directors	and	10	years	from	date	of	grant	for	all	other	
employees of the Group.

At the end of the financial year, details of the options granted under the Scheme on the unissued ordinary shares of the Company, are as follows:

   Options   Options  Number of
    outstanding   outstanding option holders   
  Exercise price  at   at at 
 Date of grant per share 1 October   Options Options 30 September  30 September Exercise
of options $ 2008 granted forfeited 2009 2009 period       

24/03/2009 0.05 –  1,500,000 –   1,500,000  3 24/3/2009 to 
        23/3/2014

24/03/2009 0.05 – 20,790,000 (600,000)      20,190,000 32  24/3/2009 to 
        23/3/2019

   – 22,290,000   (600,000)      21,690,000 35  

Except as disclosed above, there were no unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiaries under options granted by the Company or its 
subsidiaries as at the end of the financial year.
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Details of options granted to directors of the Company and Group employees under the scheme are as follows: 

    Aggregate options 
   Aggregate options exercised /
  Options granted   granted since  (forfeited) since
  for the financial commencement  commencement Aggregate options 
  year ended of plan to  of plan to outstanding as at 
  30 September 2009 30 September 2009  30 September 2009 30 September 2009       
Directors    
Lee Thian Guan John*          8,000,000                     8,000,000                –                          8,000,000
Yau Wai Hoo Alan          3,800,000                     3,800,000                –                          3,800,000
Low Chai Chong     500,000     500,000             –                             500,000
Mun Hon Pheng     500,000     500,000                –                             500,000
Ling Yew Kong     500,000     500,000                –                            500,000
  13,300,000                  13,300,000                –                       13,300,000

Other Group employees 8,990,000                8,990,000 (600,000)        8,390,000  
Total        22,290,000                22,290,000               (600,000)                       21,690,000

Since the commencement of the employee share option plan, no options have been granted to the controlling shareholders of the Company 
or their associates. Except for Lee Thian Guan John* and Yau Wai Hoo Alan, no other participant under the Scheme has been granted 5% or 
more of the total options available under the Scheme. 

*  Subsequent to financial year end, Lee Thian Guan John stepped down as director of the Company.

•	 The	options	granted	by	the	Company	do	not	entitle	the	holders	of	the	options,	by	virtue	of	such	holding,	to	any	rights	to	participate	
in any share issue of any other company.

On 5 July 2006, the Company issued 32,800,000 warrants at $0.02 per warrant on the basis of one warrant for every two existing shares 
held. Each warrant entitles the warrant holder to subscribe for one new ordinary share in the Company at the exercise price of $0.18 per 
share on or before 3 July 2009. The new ordinary shares will rank pari passu in all respects with the then existing ordinary shares, save for 
any dividends, rights, allotment or other distributions, the record date for which is on or before the relevant exercise date of the warrants. 
During the year, no warrant was exercised and the outstanding warrants of 669,210 expired on 3 July 2009.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The members of the Audit Committee during the year and at the date of this report are:

•	 Low	Chai	Chong	 Independent	director	(Chairman)
•	 Ling	Yew	Kong	 Non-independent	director
•	 Mun	Hon	Pheng	 Independent	director

The Audit Committee performs the functions specified in Section 201B of the Companies Act, the SGX Listing Manual and the Code of 
Corporate Governance.

The Audit Committee has held 3 meetings since the last directors’ report. In performing its functions, the Audit Committee met with the 
Company’s external auditors to discuss the scope of their work, the results of their examination and evaluation of the Company’s internal 
accounting control system.
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The Audit Committee also reviewed the following:

•	 assistance	provided	by	the	Company’s	officers	to	the	external	auditors;

•	 quarterly	financial	 information	and	annual	financial	statements	of	 the	Group	and	the	Company	prior	 to	 their	submission	to	 the	
directors of the Company for adoption; and

•	 interested	person	transactions	(as	defined	in	Chapter	9	of	the	SGX	Listing	Manual).

The Audit Committee has full access to management and is given the resources required for it to discharge its functions. It has full authority 
and the discretion to invite any director or executive officer to attend its meetings. The Audit Committee also recommends the appointment 
of the external auditors and reviews the level of audit and non-audit fees.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the independence and objectivity of the external auditors and has recommended to the Board of Directors 
that the auditors, KPMG LLP, be nominated for re-appointment as auditors at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company.

AUDITORS
The auditors, KPMG LLP, have indicated their willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board of Directors 

────────────────────
Yau Wai Hoo Alan
Director

────────────────────
Low Chai Chong
Director

Singapore
8 January 2010
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In our opinion:

(a) the financial statements set out on pages 49 to 91 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group 
and of the Company as at 30 September 2009 and the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group for the year ended on that 
date in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards; and

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
fall due.

The Board of Directors has, on the date of this statement, authorised these financial statements for issue.

On behalf of the Board of Directors 

Yau Wai Hoo Alan
Director

Low Chai Chong
Director

Singapore
8 January 2010
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We have audited the financial statements of Dayen Environmental Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise 
the balance sheets of the Group and the Company as at 30 September 2009, the income statement, statement of changes in equity and 
cash flow statement of the Group for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, as 
set out on pages 49 to 91.

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with the provisions of the 
Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the Act) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes:

(a) devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded 
against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to 
permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss accounts and balance sheets and to maintain accountability of assets;

(b) selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and 

(c) making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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DAYEN ENVIRONMENTAL LIMITED

OPINION
In our opinion:

(a) the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the 
provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of 
the Company as at 30 September 2009 and the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group for the year ended on that date; 
and

(b) the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiaries incorporated in Singapore of 
which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

KPMG LLP
Public Accountants and
Certified Public Accountants

Singapore
8 January 2010
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 Group Company
 Note 2009 2008 2009 2008
  $ $ $ $

Non-current assets     

Property, plant and equipment 3 2,195,139 2,394,370 2,155,827 2,380,806

Subsidiaries 4 –      –      51,003 946,145

Associate 5 1,944,267 1,891,018 2,067,240 2,067,240

Jointly-controlled entities 6 –      392,642 –      460,458

Long-term retention receivables 9 1,222,264 –      1,222,264 –    

  5,361,670 4,678,030 5,496,334 5,854,649

Current assets     

Other investment 7 2,252,785 3,211,512 2,252,785 3,211,512

Contract work-in-progress 8 940,006 5,804,456 903,292 5,804,457

Trade and other receivables 9 8,401,614 8,574,433 10,357,621 10,703,945

Cash and bank balances 10 10,960,590 12,011,784 9,474,393 10,113,680

  22,554,995 29,602,185 22,988,091 29,833,594

Total assets  27,916,665 34,280,215 28,484,425 35,688,243

     

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company     

Share capital 11 36,508,426 34,576,526 36,508,426 34,576,526

Reserves 12 (18,617,465) (13,522,744) (17,409,587) (12,846,896)

Total equity  17,890,961 21,053,782 19,098,839 21,729,630

     

     

Current liabilities     

Bank overdrafts (secured) 10 –      4,521 –      4,521

Excess of progress billings over contract work-in-progress 8 651,390 1,048,814 642,043 1,039,310

Redeemable cumulative convertible  
   preference shares of a subsidiary 14 500,000 –      –      –     

Trade and other payables 15 8,874,314 12,173,098 8,743,543 12,914,782

Total liabilities  10,025,704 13,226,433 9,385,586 13,958,613

Total equity and liabilities  27,916,665 34,280,215 28,484,425 35,688,243

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.



CONSOLIDATED 
INCOME STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2009

 Group
 Note 2009 2008
  $ $

Revenue 16 35,498,700 29,531,069

Cost of sales  (33,666,682) (31,142,028)

Gross profit/(loss)  1,832,018 (1,610,959)

Other operating income  86,481 398,240

Administrative expenses (3,887,518) (5,052,308)

Other operating expenses  (2,318,935) (8,280,206)

Results from operating activities  (4,287,954) (14,545,233)

Finance costs  (192) (89,143)

Share of profits/(losses) of an associate (net of tax)  68,835 (114,332)

Share of losses of jointly-controlled entities (net of tax)  (1,358,432) (125,137)

Loss before tax 17 (5,577,743) (14,873,845)

Income tax credit 18 –       629,990       

Loss for the year  (5,577,743)  (14,243,855)

Attributable to:  

Equity holders of the Company  (5,528,743) (14,243,855)

Minority interest  (49,000)             –      

Loss for the year  (5,577,743) (14,243,855)

 

Loss per share (cents) 19  

Basic and diluted (2.60) (7.48)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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       Total
        attributable   
    Share Currency Accumulated to equity
  Share Capital option translation profits/ holders of Minority
Group capital reserve reserve reserve (losses) the Company interest Total       

At 1 October 2007, 
   as previously
   stated 19,586,562 12,559 –       (132,836) 523,203 19,989,488   –       19,989,488

Effect of adopting INT
   FRS 112 (see Note 2.10) –       –       –       –      260,585 260,585   –         260,585

At 1 October 2007,  
   restated 19,586,562 12,559 –       (132,836) 783,788 20,250,073   –       20,250,073

Currency translation 
   difference representing 
   net gain recognised 
   directly in equity –       –       –       59,943 –       59,943      –      59,943
        

Net loss for the year, 
   as previously stated –       –       –       –       (14,328,345) (14,328,345)   –      (14,328,345)

Effect of adopting INT
   FRS 112 (see Note 2.10) –       –       –       –    84,490 84,490   –        84,490

Net loss for the year, 
   restated –       –       –       –       (14,243,855)  (14,243,855) –      (14,243,855)
        

Total  recognised 
   income and expense 
   for the year –       –       –       59,943 (14,243,855)  (14,183,912)                      –    (14,183,912)
        

Issue of shares  14,987,621 –       –       –       –       14,987,621   –       14,987,621

Transfer to share 
   capital upon exercise 
   of warrants 2,343 (2,343) – – – – – – 

At 30 September 2008 34,576,526 10,216 –       (72,893) (13,460,067)    21,053,782   –       21,053,782

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
CHANGES IN EQUITY
YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2009

       Total
        attributable   
    Share Currency Accumulated to equity
  Share Capital option translation profits/ holders of Minority
Group capital reserve reserve reserve (losses) the Company interest Total       

As 1 October 2008, 
   as previously stated 34,576,526 10,216 –       (72,893) (13,805,142) 20,708,707   –       20,708,707

Effect of adopting INT
   FRS 112 (see Note 2.10) –       –       –       –       345,075 345,075   –       345,075

At 1 October 2008, 
   restated 34,576,526     10,216  –       (72,893) (13,460,067) 21,053,782   –       21,053,782
          

Currency translation 
   difference representing 
   net loss recognised 
   directly in equity –       –       –       (30,678) –       (30,678)        –       (30,678)

Net loss for the year –       –       –       –       (5,528,743) (5,528,743) (49,000)      (5,577,743)

Total recognised 
   expense for the year –    – –       (30,678) (5,528,743) (5,559,421) (49,000)      (5,608,421)

Transfer to accumulated 
   profits/(losses) upon 
   expiry of warrants –       (10,216) –       –       10,216 –         –       –      
          

Grant of equity-settled 
   share options –       –       464,700 –       –       464,700 – 464,700

Issue of shares 1,931,900 –       –       –        –       1,931,900 –       1,931,900

Issue of shares by 
   a subsidiary –       –       –       –                  –        – 49,000 49,000

At 30 September 2009 36,508,426 –       464,700 (103,571) (18,978,594) 17,890,961 –       17,890,961

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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 Note 2009 2008
  $ $

Operating activities  

Loss before income tax (5,577,743) (14,873,845)

Adjustments for:  

Grant of equity-settled share options  464,700 –   

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 138,702 127,113

Amortisation of intangible asset –    9,679

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (775) (42,800)

Gain on disposal of subsidiary –    (315,000)

Loss on disposal of intangible asset –    12,182

Loss on disposal of equity investments –    92,596

Interest expenses 192 89,143

Interest income (46,796) (156,907)

Share of (profits)/losses of an associate (68,835) 114,332

Share of losses of jointly-controlled entities 1,358,432 125,137

Allowance for doubtful receivables 493,207 1,432,000

Impairment losses on available-for-sale investments 958,727 5,831,403

Impairment losses on leasehold property 182,999 –   

Allowance for foreseeable losses on contracts 598,471 3,610,000

 (1,498,719) (3,944,967)

Changes in working capital:  

Contract work-in-progress  3,868,555 (2,128,519)

Inventories –    773

Trade and other receivables (2,959,993)  (3,125,643)

Trade and other payables (3,297,608) 1,098,937

Cash used in operations (3,887,765) (8,099,419)

Income taxes paid –    (19,927)

Cash flows from operating activities (3,887,765) (8,119,346)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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 Note 2009 2008
  $ $

Investing activities  
Interest received  46,796 156,907
Non-trade amount due from an associate   (159,799) 70,188
Non-trade amount due from jointly-controlled entities  (34,226) (209,677)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (123,978) (62,289)
Purchase of quoted equity investments  –    (9,693,518)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  2,302 47,447
Proceeds from disposal of equity investment  –    558,006
Proceeds from disposal of intangible asset  –    360,450
Disposal of a subsidiary, net of cash disposed  644,400    (329,400)
Investment in mining rights  –    (1,432,000)
Cash flows from investing activities  375,495 (10,533,886)
 
Financing activities 
Interest paid  (192) (89,143)
Issue of ordinary shares in subsidiary to minority shareholders  49,000 –     
Issue of ordinary shares (net of expenses)  1,931,900 14,987,621
Issue of redeemable cumulative convertible preference shares of a subsidiary  500,000 –     
Fixed deposits and bank balances pledged to bank  2,669,549 4,670,863
Monies placed in escrow account   (1,988,798) –     
Cash flows from financing activities  3,161,459 19,569,341
  
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  (350,811) 916,109
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  2,137,908 1,247,699
Effect of exchange rate changes on balances held in foreign currency  (15,111) (25,900)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 10 1,771,986 2,137,908

Non-cash transaction   
During the year, the Group increased its investment in a jointly-controlled entity by way of capitalising the outstanding non-trade balance of 
$965,790 due from that jointly-controlled entity.

Effect of disposal of subsidiary on cash flows
In the previous financial year, a wholly-owned subsidiary, Dayen Water Engineering (Shenyang) Co Ltd was incorporated in the People’s Republic of 
China for the purpose of operating a project in the province of Liaoning.  This subsidiary was disposed of to a third party by 30 September 2008.

The effect of disposal is set out as below:
 2008
 $
Net current assets 2,070,000
Profit on disposal 315,000
Total consideration received 2,385,000
Less: cash flow disposed (2,070,000)
Less: outstanding consideration receivable (see Note 9) (644,400)
Cash outflow on disposal (329,400)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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These notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of directors on 8 January 2010.

1 DOMICILE AND ACTIVITIES
Dayen Environmental Limited (the Company) is incorporated in the Republic of Singapore and has its registered office at 6 Woodlands 
Industrial Park E1, Singapore 757729.

The principal activities of the Group and the Company are those relating to the provision of mechanical and electrical engineering services. 

The consolidated financial statements relate to the Company and its subsidiaries (referred to as the Group) and the Group’s interests 
in an associate and jointly-controlled entities.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (FRS).

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial assets and financial liabilities 
which are measured at fair value.

The financial statements are presented in Singapore dollar which is the Company’s functional currency. All financial information are 
presented in Singapore dollar unless otherwise stated.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 
period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting policies that 
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements is included in the following notes:

•	 	Note	3	–	measurement	of	depreciation	of	property,	plant	and	equipment
•	 	Note	4	–	measurement	of	recoverable	amount	in	subsidiaries
•	 	Note	8	–	measurement	of		recoverable	amount	of	contract	work-in-progress
•	 	Note	9	–		measurement	of		recoverable	amount	of		trade	and	other	receivables
•	 	Note	13	–	measurement	of	share-based	payments
•	 	Note	16	–	revenue	and	profit	recognition	on	uncompleted	projects

The Group adopted INT FRS112 – Service Concession Arrangements during the year, as described in note 2.10.

Except for the above change, the accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently by the Group to all periods 
presented in these financial statements.



NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 

2.2 Consolidation

Business combinations
Business combinations are accounted for under the purchase method. The cost of an acquisition is measured at the fair value of the 
assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable 
to the acquisition.

The excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of 
acquisition is credited to the income statement in the period of the acquisition.

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating 
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that presently exercisable 
are taken into account. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date 
that control commences until the date that control ceases. The accounting policies of subsidiaries has been changed where necessary 
to align with the policies adopted by the Group.

Associates and jointly-controlled entities
Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control, over their financial and operating policies. 
Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Group holds between 20% to 50% of the voting power of another entity. Jointly-
controlled entities are those entities over whose activities the Group has joint control, established by contractual agreement and 
requiring unanimous consent for strategic financial and operating decisions. Associates and jointly-controlled entities are accounted 
for using the equity method. The consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the results and equity movements of 
associates and jointly-controlled entities, after adjustments to align the accounting policies with those of the Group, from the date 
that significant influence or joint control commences until the date that significant influence or joint control ceases. When the Group’s 
share of losses exceeds its interest in an associate or a jointly-controlled entity, the carrying amount of that interest (including any 
long-term investments) is reduced to zero and the recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group 
has an obligation or has made payments on behalf of the equity accounted investee.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances, and transactions, and any unrealised income or expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated 
in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with associates and jointly-controlled 
entities  are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated 
in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Accounting for subsidiaries, associates and jointly-controlled entities by the Company
Investments in subsidiaries, associates and jointly-controlled entities are stated in the Company’s balance sheet at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 

2.3 Foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at the exchange rate at the 
date of the transaction. The functional currencies of the Group entities are Singapore dollars and Chinese Renminbi. Monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange 
rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are 
retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date on which the fair value was determined.

Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in the income statement, except for differences arising on the 
retranslation of available-for-sale equity securities (see Note 2.6).

Foreign operations
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated to Singapore dollar at exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date. 
The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated to Singapore dollar at exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in the currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation is disposed of, in part or in 
full, the relevant amount in the currency translation reserve is transferred to the income statement.

2.4 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major 
components) of property, plant and equipment.

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable 
that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. The costs 
of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in the income statement as incurred.

Depreciation is recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives (or lease term, if shorter) 
of each item of property, plant and equipment as follows:

Leasehold property   - 46 years
Plant and machinery   - 5 years
Furniture, fittings and office equipment - 3 to 5 years
Motor vehicles   - 2 to 3 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed and adjusted as appropriate at each reporting date.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 

2.5 Intangible asset 

Goodwill 
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets 
acquired and, liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed of the acquiree.

Goodwill is stated at cost less impairment losses. Goodwill arising on acquisition of associate is included in investment in associate.

Goodwill is tested for impairment on an annual basis in accordance with Note 2.8 below.

Other intangible asset
Other intangible assets with a finite life are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation of 
intangible assets with finite life is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. 

2.6 Financial instruments

Non-derivative financial instruments
Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in equity securities, trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents 
and trade and other payables.

Non-derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value plus, for instruments not at fair value through profit or loss, 
any directly attributable transaction costs, except as described below. Subsequent to initial recognition, non-derivative financial 
instruments are measured as described below.

A financial instrument is recognised if the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets 
are derecognised if the Group’s contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets expire or if the Group transfers the 
financial asset to another party without retaining control or transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset. Regular way 
purchases and sales of financial assets are accounted for at trade date, i.e., the date that the Group commits itself to purchase or sell 
the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised if the Group’s obligation specified in the contract expire or are discharged or cancelled.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and bank deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form 
an integral part of the Group’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the 
cash flow statement.

Available-for-sale financial assets
The Group’s investments in certain equity securities are classified as available-for-sale financial assets if they are not classified in 
any of the other categories. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at fair value and changes therein, other than for 
impairment losses, are recognised directly in equity. When an investment is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss in equity is 
transferred to the income statement.

Other
Other non-derivative financial instruments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities
The Group holds derivative financial instruments, including forward foreign exchange contracts, to hedge its foreign currency risk 
exposures. In accordance with its treasury policies, the Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.

Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are remeasured at fair value. The gain 
or loss on remeasurement to fair value is recognised immediately in the income statement.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 

2.6 Financial instruments (cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets
A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial 
asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had a negative effect on the estimated 
future cash flows of that asset.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its carrying 
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. An impairment 
loss in respect of an available-for-sale financial asset is calculated by reference to its current fair value.

Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The remaining financial assets are assessed 
collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics.

All impairment losses are recognised in the income statement. Any cumulative loss in respect of an available-for-sale financial asset 
recognised previously in equity is transferred to the income statement.

Impairment losses in respect of financial assets measured at amortised cost are reversed if the subsequent increase in fair value can 
be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised.

Impairment losses once recognised in the income statement in respect of available-for-sale equity securities are not reversed through 
the income statement. Any subsequent increase in fair value of such assets is recognised directly in equity.

Intra-group financial guarantees
Financial guarantees are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial measurement, the financial guarantees are stated at 
the higher of the initial fair value less cumulative amortisation and the amount that would be recognised if they were accounted 
for as contingent liabilities. When financial guarantees are terminated before their original expiry date, the carrying amount of the 
financial guarantees is transferred to the income statement.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares and warrants are recognised as a deduction from equity, net 
of any tax effects.

Dividends
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised as a liability in the period in which they are declared.

2.7 Leases

Where the Group has the use of assets under operating leases, payments made under the leases are recognised in the income 
statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in the income statement as an 
integral part of the total lease payments made.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 

2.8 Impairment – non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any 
indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the assets’ recoverable amounts are estimated. For goodwill, the recoverable 
amount is estimated at each reporting date, and as and when indicators of impairment are identified. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated recoverable 
amount. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash flows that largely are independent from 
other assets and groups. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement unless it reverses a previous revaluation, credited 
to equity, in which case it is charged to equity. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first 
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in 
the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or cash-generating unit.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in prior periods 
are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed 
if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the 
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation 
or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

2.9 Inventories
Inventories held for sale
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula and 
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and 
condition.  Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion 
and selling expenses.  

Contract work-in-progress
Contract work-in-progress represents the gross unbilled amount expected to be collected from customers for contract work performed 
to date. It is measured at cost plus profit recognised to date less progress billings and recognised losses. Cost includes all expenditure 
related directly to specific projects and an allocation of fixed and variable overheads incurred in the Group’s contract activities based 
on normal operating capacity.

2.10 Service concession arrangements
On 1 October 2008, the Group adopted INT FRS 112 Service Concession Arrangement.

INT FRS 112 applies to public-to-private service concession arrangements if the infrastructure is constructed or acquired by the Group 
as part of the arrangement or is given for use by the grantor and:

i. the grantor controls or regulates what services the Group must provide with the infrastructure, to whom it must provide them, 
and what price; and 

ii. the grantor controls any significant residual interest in the infrastructure at the end of the term of the arrangement.

On adoption of INT FRS 112, the infrastructure constructed in a service concession arrangement is not recognised as property, plant 
and equipment of the Group.

The Group recognises the consideration received or receivable as a financial asset to the extent that it has an unconditional right 
to receive cash or another financial asset for the construction services. Financial assets are accounted for in accordance with the 
accounting policy set out in Note 2.6.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 

2.10 Service concession arrangements (cont’d)

The Group recognises the consideration receivable as an intangible asset to the extent that it receives a right to charge users of the 
public service. Intangible assets are accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2.5.

The change in accounting policy has been  applied retrospectively. The effects of adoption on the financial statements are as follows:

 Group
  2009 2008
  $ $

Balance sheet  
Increase in:   
Interests in associates at 30 September 101,227 345,075
Accumulated profits at 1 October 345,075 260,585

Income statement  
Increase in:  
Share of results (net of tax) of associates  101,227 84,490

2.11 Redeemable cumulative convertible preference share

Redeemable cumulative convertible preference share is classified as a liability if it is redeemable on a specific date or at the option 
of the shareholders or if dividend payments are not discretionary. Dividends thereon are recognised in the income statement as 
interest expense.

2.12 Warrants
The proceeds received from the subscription price for the issue of warrants net of direct issuance expenses are credited to the capital 
reserve. As and when the warrants are exercised, the subscription price for the warrants exercised will be transferred from capital 
reserve to share capital. Upon the expiry of the warrants, the balance of the capital reserve representing the net proceeds from the 
issuance of the warrants not exercised, will be taken to accumulated profits.

2.13 Research and development costs

Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge and understanding, 
is recognised in the income statement as an expense when it is incurred.

Development activities involve a plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved products and processes. Development 
expenditure is capitalised only if development costs can be measured reliably, the products or process is technically and commercially 
feasible, future economic benefits are probable, and the Group intends to and has sufficient resources to complete development and 
to use or sell the asset. The expenditure capitalised includes the cost of materials, direct labour and overhead costs that are directly 
attributable to preparing the asset for its intended use. Other development expenditure is recognised in the income statement as an 
expense when it is incurred. Capitalised development expenditure is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment 
losses. Amortisation is charged to the income statement using the straight-line method over its estimated useful life.
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2.14 Employee benefits

Defined contribution plans
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as an expense in the income statement as incurred.

Short-term benefits
Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is provided.
A provision is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus if the Group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Accrual for short-term accumulating compensation balances 
Accrual for short-term accumulating compensated balances is made when services are rendered by the employees that increase their 
entitlement to future compensated absences.

Share-based payments
The share option programme allows Group employees to acquire shares of the Company. The fair value of options granted is recognised 
as an employee expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and spread over the vesting 
period during which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the options. At each balance sheet date, the Company revises 
its estimates of the number of options that are expected to become exercisable. It recognises the impact of the revision of original 
estimates in employee expenses and in a corresponding adjustment to equity over the remaining vesting period. 

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transactions costs are credited to share capital when the options are exercised.

2.15 Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated 
reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined 
by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the liability.

Onerous contracts
A provision for onerous contacts is recognised when the expected benefits to be derived by the Group from a contract are lower than 
the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the contract. The provision is measured at the present value of the lower of the 
expected cost of terminating the contract and the expected net cost of continuing with the contract. Before a provision is established, 
the Group recognises any impairment loss on the assets associated with that contract.

2.16 Revenue recognition

Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of returns and allowances, 
trade discounts and volume rebates. Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred 
to the buyer, recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated costs and possible return of goods can be estimated reliably, 
and there is no continuing management involvement with the goods, and the amount of revenue can be measured of reliably.

Revenue for water supply services is recognised over the period in which the services are rendered.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 

2.16 Revenue recognition (cont’d)

Construction contracts
As soon as the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue and expenses are recognised in the 
income statement in proportion to the stage of completion of the contract. Contract revenue includes the initial amount agreed in 
the contract plus any variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments to the extent that it is probable that they will result 
in revenue and can be measured reliably.

The stage of completion is assessed by reference to surveys of work performed. In the absence of surveys of work performed, the 
percentage of completion is measured by reference to the percentage of costs incurred to-date to the estimated total costs for each 
contracts, with due consideration made to include only those costs that reflect work performed. When the outcome of a construction 
contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract costs incurred that are likely to 
be recoverable. An expected loss on a contract is recognised immediately in the income statement.

Maintenance revenue is recognised as and when service is rendered over the period of maintenance contract. 

2.17 Finance income and expenses
Finance income comprises interest income on fixed deposits placed with banks that is recognised in the income statement. Interest 
income is recognised as it accrues, using the effective interest method.

Interest expense and similar charges are expensed in the income statement in the period in which they are incurred. 

2.18 Key management personnel
Key management personnel of the Company are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling 
the activities of the Company. The directors, chief operating officer, chief financial officer, and projects and business development 
general managers are considered as key management personnel.

 Income tax expense
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in the income statement except to the 
extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for 
the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of goodwill, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction 
that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit, and differences relating to investments in 
subsidiaries and jointly-controlled entities to the extent that it is probable that will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax 
is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the 
same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax 
assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which temporary 
differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.
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3 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

   Furniture,  
   fittings, and   
 Leasehold Plant and office Motor 
 property machinery equipment vehicles Total
Group $ $ $ $ $

Cost     

At 1 October 2007 2,763,670      115,224       845,178       515,428 4,239,500

Additions  –         –               62,289   –               62,289 

Disposals  –         –                (8,954)     (150,719)     (159,673)

Translation differences   –        –                      59           2,458           2,517 

At 30 September 2008 2,763,670      115,224       898,572       367,167    4,144,633 

Additions  –         –               83,978         40,000  123,978 

Disposals  –         –              (36,998) –              (36,998)

Translation differences   –        –                   (188)            (748)            (936)

At 30 September 2009 2,763,670       115,224       945,364       406,419    4,230,677 

     

Accumulated depreciation and 
   impairment losses     

At 1 October 2007 484,185      112,883      682,933       494,502    1,774,503 

Depreciation charge for the year 48,243             702         67,157         11,011       127,113 

Disposals  –         –                (2,766)     (150,719)     (153,485)

Translation differences   –         –                    133           1,999           2,132 

At 30 September 2008  532,428      113,585       747,457       356,793    1,750,263 

Depreciation charge for the year      48,243 702         72,012         17,745       138,702 

Impairment losses 182,999  –         –        –        182,999

Disposals  –         –              (35,471) –              (35,471)

Translation differences   –         –        (377)             (578) (955)

At 30 September 2009 763,670       114,287       783,621       373,960    2,035,538 

     

Carrying amount     

At 1 October 2007      2,279,485              2,341          162,245            20,926      2,464,997 

At 30 September 2008 2,231,242              1,639          151,115            10,374      2,394,370 

At 30 September 2009 2,000,000              937       161,743         32,459    2,195,139 



DAYEN ENVIRONMENTAL LIMITED   AR09

NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2009

6564

3 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d)

   Furniture,  
   fittings, and   
 Leasehold Plant and office Motor 
 property machinery equipment vehicles Total
Company $ $ $ $ $

Cost          

At 1 October 2007 2,763,670 115,224 831,321 472,795 4,183,010

Additions –      –      59,065 –      59,065 

Disposals –      –      (1,681) (150,719)  (152,400)

At 30 September 2008 2,763,670 115,224 888,705 322,076 4,089,675

Additions –      –      48,682 40,000 88,682

Disposals –      –      (39,414) –     (39,414)

At 30 September 2009 2,763,670 115,224 897,973 362,076 4,138,943

     

Accumulated depreciation and
   impairment losses     

At 1 October 2007 484,185 112,883 678,806 467,004 1,742,878

Depreciation charge for the year 48,243 702 64,598 3,307 116,850

Disposals –      –      (140) (150,719) (150,859)

At 30 September 2008 532,428 113,585 743,264 319,592 1,708,869

Depreciation charge for the year      48,243  702 64,183 13,591 126,719

Impairment losses 182,999  –         –          –        182,999

Disposals  –         –        (35,471) –        (35,471)

At 30 September 2009 763,670 114,287 771,976 333,183 1,983,116

Carrying amount     

At 1 October 2007 2,279,485 2,341 152,515 5,791 2,440,132 

At 30 September 2008 2,231,242 1,639 145,441 2,484 2,380,806

At 30 September 2009 2,000,000 937 125,997 28,893 2,155,827
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3 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d)

Sources of estimation uncertainty
The costs of plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their useful lives. Management estimates the useful 
lives of these plant and equipment to be between 2 to 5 years and leasehold property to be 46 years. The Group reviews annually 
the estimated useful lives of plant and equipment based on factors that include asset utilisation, internal technical evaluation and 
technological changes. It is possible that future results of operations could be materially affected by changes in these estimates brought 
about by changes in these factors. A reduction in the estimated useful lives of plant and equipment would increase depreciation 
expense and decrease non-current assets.

The estimates of recoverable amounts were based on either the fair value less costs to sell of the property, plant and equipment 
or the value-in-use of the property, plant and equipment determined by management.  The fair value, as determined by a firm of 
independent professional valuer, is based on market value, being the estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged on 
the date of the valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction after proper marketing wherein 
the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion.  

The Group has determined the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) to be the respective legal entity in the Group since each entity generates 
independent cash inflows.  Impairment assessment has been performed for each of CGUs due to the uncertain economic outlook.  
The recoverable amount for a CGU is determined based on higher of fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use calculations.  The 
recoverable amounts could change significantly as a result of changes in market conditions and the assumptions used in determining 
the value-in-use.

Based on management’s assessment, the Group recognised an impairment loss of $182,999 in the current year’s income statement 
and recorded it under “other operating expenses”.  The recoverable amount was determined using the fair value less costs to sell of 
which the main contributor is the value of the Group’s leasehold property.  The fair value of the leasehold property was determined 
by an independent professional valuer on 10 November 2009, based on market value, which is the estimated amount for which a 
property could be exchanged on the date of the valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in arm’s length transaction.

Leasehold property with carrying amount of $2,000,000 (2008: $2,231,242) was mortgaged to a bank to secure banking facilities 
for the Company as detailed in note 10 to the financial statements.

4 SUBSIDIARIES

 Company
  2009 2008
  $ $

Unquoted equity investments, at cost 351,003 1,246,145

Impairment losses (300,000) (300,000)

 51,003 946,145
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4 SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)

Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

   Effective equity held by 
Name of subsidiary Country of incorporation the Group

   2009 2008
   % %   
1 Dayen Investment Holdings Pte Ltd Singapore 100 100
2 Dayen Water Engineering (Beijing) Ltd The People’s Republic of China 100 100

* Dayen Environmental Freetrade Zone Enterprise United Arab Emirates 100 100

* Dayen Environmental Limited Liability Corporation United Arab Emirates 100 100

* Dayen Resources Pte Ltd Singapore 100 100

* Dayen Xinmin Pte Ltd Singapore 100 100

* Dayen Mining Pte Ltd Singapore 100 100
1 Dowtec Pte Ltd (formerly known as Dayen Oil Water
 Technologies Pte Ltd) and its subsidiary: Singapore 51 100

   –  CH Solutions Pte Ltd* Singapore 51 100

* PT Dian Sumberdaya Alam Indonesia 100 100

1   Audited by KPMG Singapore
2 Audited by Beijing Zhong Wei Hua Hao Certified Public Accountants
* These subsidiaries were dormant during the financial year

Sources of estimation uncertainty
When a subsidiary is in net equity deficit and has suffered operating losses, a test is made whether the investment in the investee 
is impaired. This determination requires significant judgement. An estimate is made of the future profitability of the investee, the 
financial health of and near-term business outlook for the investee, including factors such as industry and sector performance, and 
operational and financing cash flows. The recoverable amount of the investee could change significantly as a result of changes in 
market conditions and the assumptions used in determining the recoverable amount.

All the subsidiaries are not significant to the Group. For this purpose, a subsidiary is considered significant as defined under the Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited Listing Manual if its net tangible assets represent 20% or more of the Group’s consolidated net 
tangible assets or if its pre-tax profit accounts for 20% or more of the Group’s consolidated pre-tax profits.
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5 ASSOCIATE

 Group Company
  2009 2008 2009 2008
  $ $ $ $

Interest in an associate  1,944,267 1,891,018 2,067,240 2,067,240

Details of the associate are as follows:
   Effective equity held by 
Name of Associate Country of incorporation by the Group

   2009 2008
   % %   

Shenyang Shenfei Dayen Environmental Ltd* The People’s Republic of China 50 50

* Audited by Yuehua Certified Public Accountants Co. Ltd, a member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants for the statutory audit, and by other member 

firm of KPMG International for group reporting purposes.
   
Summarised financial information on the associate, based on audited financial statements, is set out below. The summarised financial 
information is not adjusted for the percentage of ownership held by the Group.

  2009 2008
  $ $

Assets and liabilities   

Non-current assets 6,288,414 5,901,017

Current assets 1,388,915 1,279,565

Total assets 7,677,329 7,180,582

  

Current liabilities/Total liabilities 3,768,034 4,067,934

 

Results   

Revenue 2,233,377 1,113,479

Profit / (Loss) after tax 137,669 (228,664)

6 JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITIES

 Group Company
  2009 2008 2009 2008
  $ $ $ $

Interests in jointly-controlled entities               –         392,642 1,426,248    660,458

Impairment losses  –       –       (1,426,248)       (200,000)

  –       392,642 –       460,458



DAYEN ENVIRONMENTAL LIMITED   AR09

NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2009

6968

6 JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITIES (cont’d)

Details of the jointly-controlled entities are as follows:

   Effective equity held by 
Name of jointly-controlled entity Country of incorporation the Group

   2009 2008
   % %   
1 Pizhou Water Holdings Pte Ltd and its subsidiary: Singapore 50 50
2 -Pizhou Penyao Water Co. Ltd The People’s Republic of China 50 50
3  Dayen Aqua-Blu Technologies Pte Ltd Singapore 50 50

1 Audited by KPMG LLP Singapore
2 Audited by Jiangsu Gongzheng Certified Public Accountant Co. Ltd., a member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants for the statutory audit. 
3   Audited by James & Chan Partners, Singapore

During the financial year, the Company capitalised the amount due from the jointly-controlled entity of $965,790.

Pizhou Penyao Water Co. Ltd (“Pizhou Penyao”)’s principal activities relating to a build-operate-transfer project to supply treated 
water (the “Project”) to Pizhou City, People’s Republic of China. In September 2009, Pizhou Penyao commenced an arbitration 
proceeding against the municipal government of Pizhou City as a result of the municipal government’s delay in giving approval for 
the water intake source subsequent to a change in Pizhou City’s master plan. Consequently, management of Pizhou Penyao assessed 
that it has became commercially non-viable for the Project to proceed and thus decided to recover the construction costs, interests, 
damages and costs arising from the Project from the municipal government. The Group assessed that there is a material uncertainty 
over Pizhou Penyao’s ability to recover its costs and thus impaired fully the financial receivables of Pizhou Penyao. This has resulted 
in share of losses of the jointly-controlled entity amounting to $1,358,432 during the financial year.

Summarised financial information on the jointly-controlled entities, based on unaudited management financial statements is set out 
below. The summarised financial information of the jointly-controlled entities represents the Group’s share.

  2009 2008
  $ $

Assets and liabilities   
Non-current assets –       2,814,031
Current assets 88,148 67,987
Total assets 88,148 2,882,018
  
Current liabilities/Total liabilities 4,590,837 2,666,571
  
Results   
Other income 206 10,414
Expenses (2,873,177) (263,320)
Loss after tax (2,872,971) (252,906)
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7 OTHER INVESTMENT

 Group and Company
  2009 2008
  $ $

Available-for-sale quoted equity securities, at cost  9,042,915 9,042,915

Impairment losses (6,790,130) (5,831,403)

 2,252,785 3,211,512

Owing to the significant decline in the fair value of the equity security held by the Group and the Company which is in excess of 
20% as compared to the historical acquisition cost, the Group and the Company has considered its available-for-sale quoted equity 
securities to be impaired.

An impairment loss of $958,727 (2008: $5,831,403) in respect of the available-for-sale quoted equity securities of the Group and 
the Company was recognised during the year based on the fair value with reference to the quoted bid price as at year-end.

8 CONTRACT WORK-IN-PROGRESS

 Group Company
  2009 2008 2009 2008
  $ $ $ $

Cost incurred and attributable profits  120,608,920 169,211,262 120,581,553 168,882,371

Allowance for foreseeable losses  (598,471) (3,172,978) (598,471) (3,172,978)

Progress billings  (119,721,833) (161,282,642) (119,721,833) (160,944,246)

  288,616 4,755,642 261,249 4,765,147

Comprising:     

Contract work-in-progress  940,006 5,804,456 903,292 5,804,457

Excess of progress billings over contract work-in-progress  (651,390) (1,048,814) (642,043) (1,039,310)

  288,616 4,755,642 261,249 4,765,147

Included in construction costs incurred for the year are staff costs amounting to $2,445,015 (2008: $2,286,653).

The Group provides for foreseeable losses in contract work-in-progress. This allowance is based on management’s best estimate of the 
recoverability and ultimate realisation of the contract work-in-progress taking into account the contracted revenue, estimated costs 
to completion, project duration and overruns. Because of the considerable judgement involved in the estimation of the provisions 
required, the outcome may differ significantly from the estimated amount.
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9 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

 Group Company
  2009 2008 2009 2008
  $ $ $ $

Non-current assets - retention sum receivables  1,222,264 –       1,222,264 –      
     
Current assets - trade receivables (a) 7,820,252 5,735,426 7,820,252 5,735,140
  9,042,516 5,735,426 9,042,516 5,735,140
     
Trade receivables (a) 7,820,252 5,735,426 7,820,252 5,735,140
Deposits  245,446 408,627 164,994 129,337
Prepayment  31,035 168,171 4,000 127,150
Staff advances  38,522 37,800 38,522 37,800
Non-trade amounts due from:      
- subsidiaries  –     –       2,212,153 2,451,515
- associate  231,882 73,258  83,223 73,258   
- jointly-controlled entities  515,446 1,448,417 515,446 1,447,011
Deposits for mining rights  1,432,000 1,432,000 1,432,000 1,432,000
Consideration receivable from disposal of a subsidiary  –     644,400 –     644,400
Other receivables  12,238 58,334 12,238 58,334
  10,326,821 10,006,433 12,282,828 12,135,945

Allowance for doubtful debt – receivables (others)  (1,925,207) (1,432,000) (1,925,207) (1,432,000)
  8,401,614 8,574,433 10,357,621 10,703,945

The Group’s primary exposure to credit risk arises through its receivables. The Group’s historical experience in the collection of trade 
accounts receivable falls within the recorded allowances. Due to these factors, management believes that no additional credit risk 
beyond amounts provided for collection losses is inherent in the Group’s receivables.

The maximum exposure to credit risk for receivables at the reporting date (by type of customer) is:

 Group Company

  2009 2008 2009 2008

  $ $ $ $

Government agencies  3,962,626 3,877,647 3,962,626 3,877,647

Private enterprises  5,079,890 1,857,779 5,079,890 1,857,493

  9,042,516 5,735,426 9,042,516 5,735,140

The Group’s most significant customer, a government agency, accounts for 22% (2008: 45%) of the trade receivables carrying amount 
at 30 September 2009.
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Impairment losses
The ageing of trade receivables at the reporting date is:
 Impairment Impairment
  Gross Losses Gross Losses 
  2009 2009 2008 2008
  $ $ $ $

Group     
Not past due  6,931,851 –        4,001,160 –       
Past due 0 – 30 days  1,238,029 –        1,361,468 –       
Past due 31 – 120 days  457,597 –        131,619 –       
More than 120 days  415,039 –        241,179 –       
  9,042,516 –        5,735,426 –       
Company     
Not past due  6,931,851 –        4,001,160 –       
Past due 0 – 30 days  1,238,029 –        1,361,468 –       
Past due 31 – 120 days  457,597 –        131,619 –       
More than 120 days  415,039 –        240,893 –       
  9,042,516 –        5,735,140 –       

Trade receivables are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. The allowance for doubtful receivables is the Group’s 
best estimate of the amount of probable credit losses in the Group’s existing accounts receivables.

Management uses judgement to determine the allowance for doubtful receivables which are supported by historical write-off, credit 
history of the customers and repayment records. The Group reviews its allowance for doubtful receivables monthly. Accounts balances 
are charged off against the allowance after all means of collection have been exhausted and the potential for recovery is considered 
remote. Actual results could differ from estimates.

Based on historical default rates, the Group believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of all of its trade receivables, 
include the receivables past due. These receivables are mainly arising by customers that have a good records with the Group.

Non-trade amounts due from subsidiaries, associate and jointly-controlled entities are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on 
demand. During the financial year, the Group and the Company recorded an allowance for doubtful debts on non-trade amount due to 
a jointly-controlled entity of $493,207 (2008: $nil). There is no allowance for doubtful debts arising from other outstanding balances.

 Allowance for doubtful debt – receivables (others) relates to:-
 Group and Company

  2009 2008
  $ $

Allowance made for:  
- deposits for mining rights 1,432,000 1,432,000
- non-trade amount due from a jointly-controlled entity 493,207 –       
 1,925,207 1,432,000

The deposits for mining rights were determined to be doubtful of collection due to the inability of the contracted party to repay the 
deposits following the termination of the transaction in the previous financial year.
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10 CASH AND BANK BALANCES

 Group Company
  2009 2008 2009 2008
  $ $ $ $

Cash and banks balances  3,750,660 2,398,594 3,301,963 1,555,490

Fixed deposits  7,209,930 9,613,190 6,172,430 8,558,190

  10,960,590 12,011,784 9,474,393 10,113,680

Bank overdrafts (secured)  –     (4,521) –     (4,521)

Fixed deposits and bank balances pledged  (7,199,806) (9,869,355) (6,162,306) (8,814,355)

Monies placed in escrow account  (1,988,798) –     (1,988,798) –    

Cash and cash equivalents in cash flow statement  1,771,986 2,137,908 1,323,289 1,294,804

 Monies placed in escrow account relates to the proceeds from the rights issue during the year (see note 11). These monies can be 
withdrawn from the escrow account for use of purposes designated for the rights issue (see note 11) with the authorisation of an 
independent director of the Company, as one of the two signatories to the escrow account.

 Included in the Group’s cash and cash equivalents at the balance sheet date are amounts of $303,595 (2008: $767,296) held in 
countries with foreign exchange control restrictions.

 The banking facilities of the Group including bank overdrafts and trust receipts granted, are secured by an assignment of proceeds 
from certain projects and the following assets:

 Net carrying value
 Group Company

  2009 2008 2009 2008
  $ $ $ $

Leasehold property  2,000,000 2,231,242 2,000,000 2,231,242

Fixed deposits  7,199,806 9,372,796 6,162,306 8,317,796

Bank balances  –     496,559 –     496,559

Trade receivables  –     585,600 –     585,600

The weighted average effective interest rates of bank overdrafts of the Group and of the Company at the balance sheet date was 
7.5% (2008: 5.75%) per annum. Interest rates reprice at intervals of one, three or six months.
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11 SHARE CAPITAL

 2009 2008
 No.of No.of
 shares shares 

Fully paid ordinary shares, with no par value:  
At 1 October 204,673,460 170,520,013
Issue of shares  –     34,153,447
Rights issue 102,336,730 –       
At 30 September 307,010,190 204,673,460

On 4 September 2009, the Company issued 102,336,730 Rights Shares at a subscription price of $0.02 each, on the basis of one 
Right Share for every two existing ordinary shares. The proceeds net of expenses amounting to $1,931,900 (gross proceeds amounting 
to $2,046,735) to be utilised for the purposes of 2 projects, i.e. (i) Enhancement works at Johor River Waterworks Plants A and B; 
and (ii) Proposed Serangoon Reservoir: Dams, Gates, Dredging and Ancillary works.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share 
at meetings of the Company. All shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

During the financial year, no warrants (2008: 153,447) was exercised for the warrants that were issued by the Company on 5 July 
2006. The outstanding warrants of 669,210 expired on 3 July 2009.

Capital Management
The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain 
future development of the business. For this purpose, capital is defined to include share capital and reserves of the Group. The Board 
of Directors monitors the return on capital, which the Group defines as net operating income divided by total shareholders’ equity 
excluding minority interest. 

The Board seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the 
advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position.

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year.

The Company and its subsidiaries are not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

12 RESERVES

 Group Company
  2009 2008 2009 2008
  $ $ $ $

Capital reserve  –     10,216 –     10,216
Share option reserve  464,700 –     464,700 –    
Currency translation reserve  (103,571) (72,893) –     –   
Accumulated losses  (18,978,594) (13,460,067) (17,874,287) (12,857,112)
  (18,617,465) (13,522,744) (17,409,587) (12,846,896)
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12 RESERVES (cont’d)

In 2008, the capital reserve comprised net proceeds from issue of warrants, less amounts transferred to share capital upon exercise 
of warrants. The outstanding warrants expired during the year and the balance of the reserve was transferred to accumulated losses.

The share option reserve comprises the cumulative value of employee services received for the issue of share options.

The currency translation reserve of the Group comprises foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial 
statements of foreign operations whose functional currencies are different from that of the Company. 

13 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Dayen Employee Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) of the Company was approved and adopted by its members at an 
Extraordinary General Meeting held on 27 February 2002. The Scheme is administered by the Company’s Remuneration Committee 
(the “Committee”) whose function is to assist the Board of Directors in reviewing remuneration and related matters. The Committee 
is responsible for the administration of the Scheme and comprises 3 Directors, Mun Hon Pheng, Ling Yew Kong and Low Chai Chong.

Other information regarding the Scheme is set out as below:

•		 Persons	eligible	to	participate	in	the	Scheme	include	present	and	future	full-time	employees	and	Directors	(both	executive	and	
non-executive). Controlling shareholders and their associates (both as defined in the SGX Listing Manual) are not eligible to 
participate in the Scheme;

•		 The	aggregate	number	of	shares	to	be	delivered	shall	not	exceed	15%	of	the	total		issued	share	capital	of	the	Company	from	
time to time;

•		 The	exercise	price	of	the	options	can	be	set	at	the	Market	Price	(defined	as	the	average	of	the	last	dealt	prices	for	a	Share	for	the	
3 consecutive trading days preceding the relevant date of grant of option) and/or at a discount to the market price not exceeding 
20% of the Market Price;

•		 The	options	can	be	exercised	1	year	after	the	grant	for	market	price	options	and	2	years	for	discounted	options;

•		 All	options	are	granted	at	a	nominal	value	of	$1.00	and	are	settled	by	physical	delivery	of	shares;	and

•		 The	options	granted	expire	after	5	years	from	date	of	grant	for	non-executive	directors	and	10	years	from	date	of	grant	for	all	
other employees of the Group.
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13 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (cont’d)

At the end of the financial year, details of the options granted under the Scheme on the unissued ordinary shares of the Company, 
are as follows:

  Options   Options Number of
 Exercise outstanding    outstanding option holders
  price at   at at
Date of grant per share 1 October  Options Options 30 September  30 September Exercise
of options $ 2008 granted forfeited 2009 2009  period
24/03/2009 0.05 –  1,500,000 –   1,500,000  3 24/3/2009 to 
       23/3/2014
24/03/2009 0.05 – 20,790,000 (600,000)      20,190,000 32  24/3/2009 to 
       23/3/2019
  – 22,290,000   (600,000)      21,690,000 32  

Fair value of share options and assumptions
The fair value of services received in return for share options granted are measured by reference to the fair value of share options 
granted. The estimate of the fair value of the services received is measured based on a Binomial Option pricing model. The expected 
life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise 
restrictions and behavioural considerations.

The following sets out the assumptions used in determining the fair value of the option granted during the year:

Date of grant of options 24/3/2009 24/3/2009
Exercise period 24/3/2009 to 23/3/2014 24/3/2009 to 23/3/2019
Fair value at measurement date $0.03564 $0.04134
Share price $0.045 $0.045
Exercise price $0.050 $0.050
Risk-free interest rate 1.220% 2.050%
Expected volatility 113.863%   109.013%

The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility (calculated based on weighted average expected life of the share options), 
adjusted for any expected changes to future volatility due to publicly available information.

There are no market conditions associated with the share option grants. Service conditions and non-market performance conditions 
are not taken into account in the measurement of the fair value of the services to be received at the grant date.
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14 REDEEMABLE CUMULATIVE CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCES SHARE OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 11 March 2009, a subsidiary of the Group entered into a Subscription Agreement to allot and issue an aggregate of 42,857,143 
new cumulative redeemable convertible preference shares (“RCPS”) of a subsidiary to the Subscriber (being minority shareholder 
of a subsidiary) in two tranches at an issue price of $0.07 per RCPS. The aggregate considerations for the subscriptions of the two 
tranches amounted to $3,000,000. On 20 March 2009, the first tranche of 7,142,857 with an aggregate issue price of $500,000 
was subscribed. As at 30 September 2009, the closing date for issuance for the subscriptions of the second tranche of 35,714,286 
RCPS was extended to 20 October 2009 from the original closing date of not more than 3 months after 20 March 2009. 

The following sets out the principal terms of the RCPS:-

•		 RCPS	holder	has	the	option	to	convert	the	RCPS	into	fully	paid-up	ordinary	shares	of	the	subsidiary	at	the	conversion	ratio	of	
one RCPS to one conversion share for a period up to 2-years commencing on the date of issue of the first tranche of RCPS;

•		 RCPS	holder	has	the	option	to	redeem	all	or	any	of	the	RCPS	at	$0.07	per	RCPS	at	any	time	on	or	after	the	date	falling	12	
months after the issue date by providing a written notice;

•		 RCPS	holder	is	entitled	to	receive	dividends	at	7.5%	payable	annually	in	arrears;	and

•		 RCPS	holder	has	the	rights	to	receive	notice	of	and	to	attend,	speak	and	vote	at	any	class	meeting	of	the	RCPS	holders	but	shall	
not be entitled to attend or vote at any general meetings of the subsidiary other than for resolution to (i) vary or abrogate the 
rights attached to the RCPS; and (ii) wind up the subsidiary.

15 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

 Group Company
  2009 2008 2009 2008
  $ $ $ $

Trade payables  5,839,274 8,298,822 5,830,798 8,296,923
Accrued operating expenses  719,128 1,314,381 717,442 1,243,149
Trust receipts (secured)  2,161,993 2,009,813 2,161,993 2,009,813
Advances from customers received  –     499,336 –     499,336
Other payables  150,174 45,763 33,310 4,320
Non-trade amount due to:   
 - subsidiaries  –     –     –     861,241
 - an associate  –     1,175 –     –     
 - a director of the Company  3,745 3,808 –     –     
  8,874,314 12,173,098 8,743,543 12,914,782

Trust receipts are secured on fixed deposits of the Group as set out in note 10 to the financial statements.

The weighted average effective interest rate of trust receipts of the Group and of the Company at the balance sheet date was 6.01% 
(2008: 5.82%) per annum. Interest rate reprices at intervals of one, three or six months.



NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2009

16 REVENUE

 Group
  2009 2008
  $ $

Contract sales 34,575,786 26,552,957
Maintenance sales 712,021 1,749,764
Product sales 210,893 1,159,653
Water supply services –     68,695
 35,498,700 29,531,069

Revenue and profit recognition on uncompleted projects are dependent on management’s estimates of the total outcome of the 
contract sales, as well as work done to the end of financial year. Actual total costs or revenue may be higher or lower than estimated at 
the balance sheet date, which would affect the revenue and profit recognised in future years. As at 30 September 2009, management 
considered that all costs to complete and revenue can be reliably estimated.

17 LOSS BEFORE TAX

The following items have been included in arriving at loss before tax:

 Group
 Note 2009 2008
  $ $

Allowance for doubtful debt – other receivables 9 493,207 1,432,000
Allowance for foreseeable losses made on contracts  598,471 3,610,000  
Consultancy fee paid/payable to a firm which a director is a member  40,739 56,520
Foreign exchange loss (net)  98,737 12,719
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  775 42,800
Gain on disposal of subsidiary  –     (315,000)
Impairment loss on available-for-sale investment 7 958,727 5,831,403
Impairment loss on leasehold property 3 182,999 –    
Interest expenses paid to banks  192 89,143
Interest income from banks  (46,796) (156,907)
Loss on disposal of quoted equity investment  –     92,596
Non-audit fees (credited) due to
- auditors of the Company  (20,330) 54,300
- other auditors  369,879 –    
Operating lease expense  200,960 231,499
Staff costs  2,197,994 2,646,522
Contributions to defined contribution plans included in staff costs  86,823 122,492
Share-based payments included in staff costs   464,700 –    
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18 INCOME TAX CREDIT

 Group
  2009 2008
  $ $

Current tax expense   
Over provided in prior years –    (629,990)
 –    (629,990)

Reconciliation of effective tax rate
Loss before tax (5,577,743) (14,873,845)
Less :    
Share of profits / (losses) of an associate (net of tax) 68,835 (114,332)
Share of losses of jointly-controlled entities (net of tax) (1,358,432) (125,137)
Loss before income tax before share of profits / losses of an associate
    and jointly-controlled entities (4,288,146) (14,634,376)
   
  
Income tax using Singapore tax rate of 17% (2008: 18%) (728,985) (2,634,188)
Effect of different tax rate in foreign countries – (11,716)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 162,984 1,049,652
Tax losses not allowed to be carried forward  –    5,900
Deferred tax asset not recognised 566,001 1,590,352
Over provided in prior years –    (629,990)
 –    (629,990)

Deferred tax assets relating to unutilised tax losses and the following temporary differences have not been recognised:  

 Group
  2009 2008
  $ $

Deductible temporary differences 4,786,379 4,915,012
Unutilised wear and tear allowances 145,522 73,535
Unutilised tax loss 10,703,482 7,317,418
 15,635,383 12,305,965

The tax loss is subject to agreement with the tax authorities and compliance with tax regulation in the respective countries in which 
the entities in the Group operate.

The deductible temporary differences do not expire under current tax legislations. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised 
in respect of these items in view of the uncertainty over the availability of future taxable profits against which the Group and the 
Company can utilise the benefits.
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19 LOSS PER SHARE

  2009 2008
  $ $

Basic loss per share is based on:   

Net loss attributable to ordinary shareholders (5,528,743) (14,243,855)

 No. of No. of
 shares  shares

Issued ordinary shares at beginning of the year 204,673,460 170,520,013

Effect of rights issue 7,570,114 –    

Effect of new shares issued during the year –     19,704,109

Weighted average number of warrants exercised –     94,733

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 212,243,574 190,318,855
 

Basic and diluted loss per share (cents) (2.60) (7.48) 
 
The diluted loss per share for the financial year ended 30 September 2009 is computed on the same basis as basic loss per share as 
the effect of the unexercised share options has been ignored for it is anti-dilutive in nature.

20 SEGMENT REPORTING

Segment information is presented in respect of the Group’s business segments. The primary format, businesses segments, is based 
on the Group’s management and internal reporting structure.

Inter-segment pricing is determined on mutually agreed terms.

Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a 
reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets and expenses, share of associate’s and jointly-controlled entities’ 
results (net of taxes), related assets and liabilities.

The Group comprises the following main business segments:

Waste water treatment  : Provision of specialised mechanical and electrical engineering works involving the implementation and 
integration of industrial and process control systems for pumping installations and treatment works/
plants, which relates mainly to the treatment of waste water.

Water treatment  :  Provision of engineering services in the design, supply and installation of specialised equipment used 
in the water treatment process.

Others : Generic mechanical, electrical projects, investment related activities and others.
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20 SEGMENT REPORTING (cont’d)

  Waste Water  Water  
  Treatment Treatment Others Consolidated
Business Segment  $ $ $ $

Revenue and Expenses     
2009
External revenue   6,921,762 25,271,870 3,305,068 35,498,700
Segment results  (69,317) (2,813,310) (1,405,519)* (4,288,146)
Share of profit of an associate   68,835 –     –     68,835
Share of losses of jointly-controlled entities  –     (1,358,432) –     (1,358,432)
Net loss for the year     (5,577,743)
     
2008
External revenue  7,952,889 20,625,193 952,987 29,531,069
Segment results  (853,778) (5,771,356) (8,009,242)* (14,634,376)
Share of loss of an associate     (114,332)
Share of losses of jointly-controlled entities     (125,137)
Income tax expense     629,990
Net loss for the year     (14,243,855)

* Included in others are impairment losses on available-for-sale investments of $958,727 (2008: $5,831,403) and allowance for 
doubtful other receivable of  $493,207 (2008: $1,432,000).

Assets and Liabilities     
2009
Segment assets  1,739,342 5,829,714 4,933,370 12,502,426
Investment in an associate  1,944,267       –     –     1,944,267
Unallocated assets  –     –     –     13,469,972
Total assets     27,916,665
     
Segment liabilities  976,046 5,907,454 1,613,223 8,496,723
Unallocated liabilities  –     –     –     1,528,981
Total liabilities     10,025,704
     
2008
Segment assets  3,055,060 11,702,534 4,316,051 19,073,645
Investment in an associate  1,891,018 –     –     1,891,018
Interests in jointly-controlled entities  –     392,642 –     392,642
Unallocated assets  –     –     –     12,922,910
Total assets     34,280,215
     
Segment liabilities  2,099,360 8,678,702 513,283 11,291,345
Unallocated liabilities     1,935,088
Total liabilities     13,226,433
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20 SEGMENT REPORTING (cont’d)

  Waste Water  Water  
  Treatment Treatment Others Consolidated
Business Segment (cont’d)  $ $ $ $

Other Segmental Information     
2009
Capital expenditure  –   –   123,978 123,978
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  27,045 98,743 12,914 138,702
Impairment loss on available-for-sale investment  –   –   958,727 958,727
Impairment loss on leasehold property  –   –   182,999 182,999
Allowance for doubtful debt – other receivables  –   –   493,207 493,207
Allowance for foreseeable losses made  234,436 364,035 –   598,471
     
2008
Capital expenditure  59,065 3,224 –      62,289
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  34,232 88,778 4,103 127,113
Impairment loss on available-for-sale investment  –   –   5,831,403 5,831,403
Amortisation of intangible asset  –      9,679 –      9,679
Allowance for doubtful debt – other receivables  –   –   1,432,000 1,432,000
Allowance for foreseeable losses made  420,000 3,190,000 –      3,610,000

Geographical Segment
The Group operates predominantly in Singapore with ad-hoc projects in Cambodia, Uzbekistan and Oman.

21 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Group has a system of controls in place to create an acceptable balance between the cost of risks occurring and the cost of 
managing the risks. Management continually monitors the Group’s risk management process to ensure that an appropriate balance 
between risk and control is achieved. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market 
conditions and the Group’s activities.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the potential financial loss resulting from the failure of a customer or a counterparty to settle its financial and contractual 
obligations to the Group, as and when they fall due.

The Group establishes credit limits for customers and monitors their balances. Cash and fixed deposits are placed with banks and 
financial institutions which are regulated. Investments and transactions involving derivative financial instruments are allowed only 
with counterparties that are of acceptable quality.

At the balance sheet date, other than trade receivables of the Group and of the Company of which 32% relates to two customers 
(2008: 61% related to two customers and non-trade amount due from jointly-controlled entities), there was no other significant 
concentration of credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset, 
including derivative financial instruments, in the balance sheet.
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21 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

Liquidity risk
The Group monitors its liquidity risk and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by management to finance 
the Group’s operations and to mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The following are the expected contractual undiscounted cash inflow (outflows) of financial liabilities, including interest payments 
and excluding the impact of netting agreements:
 Cash flows 
Group Carrying  Contractual Within Within 3 to Within 6 to
 amount cash flows  3 months 6 months 9 months
 $ $ $ $ $

2009
Non-derivative financial liabilities     
Trade and other payables* 8,874,314 (8,874,314) (5,940,566) (2,396,089) (537,659)
     
2008
Non-derivative financial liabilities     
Bank overdrafts 4,521 (4,521) (4,521) –       –      
Trade and other payables* 12,173,098 (12,173,098) (7,531,925) (4,641,173) –      
  12,177,619 (12,177,619) (7,536,446) (4,641,173) –      

* Excludes excess of progress billings over work-in-progress.

Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to changes in interest rates relates primarily to interest-earning financial assets and interest-bearing financial 
liabilities. Interest rate risk is managed by the Group on an on-going basis with the primary objective of limiting the extent to which 
net interest expense could be affected by an adverse movement in interest rates.

The Group’s and Company’s fixed deposit and bank overdraft are as follows:

 Group Company
  2009 2008 2009 2008
  $ $ $ $

Fixed deposits  7,209,930 9,613,190 6,172,430 8,558,190
Bank overdrafts  –     (4,521) –     (4,521)  
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21 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

Sensitivity analysis
A 1% increase in bank interest at the reporting date would increase (decrease) profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This 
analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.
     Group Company
    Profit or Profit or
     loss loss
    $ $

30 September 2009

Fixed deposits    72,099 61,724
     

30 September 2008

Fixed deposits    96,132 85,582

Bank overdrafts    (45) (45)    

A 1% decrease in bank interest at the above fixed deposit or bank overdraft would have had the equal but opposite effect on the 
above fixed deposit or bank overdraft to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant.

Foreign currency risk
The Group incurs foreign currency risk on sales and purchases that are denominated in currencies other than the Singapore dollar 
and the Chinese Renminbi which are the principal functional currencies of Group entities. The currencies giving rise to this foreign 
currency risk are primarily the US Dollar, Euro and Papua New Guinea Kina.

The Group uses forward exchange contracts to hedge its foreign currency risk. Where necessary, the forward exchange contracts are 
rolled over at maturity at market rates.

In respect of other monetary assets and liabilities held in currencies other than the Singapore dollars, the Group ensures that 
the net exposure is kept to an acceptable level by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates where necessary to address 
short-term imbalances. At 30 September 2009, the Group has outstanding forward exchange contracts with notional amounts of 
approximately $690,070. (2008: $728,496). The mark-to-market loss on the outstanding forward exchange contracts amounted 
to $41,198 (2008: $9,33l).
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21 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

The Group’s and Company’s exposures to foreign currency are as follows:

     Papua New    
 US Chinese  Guinea Malaysian Other
 dollar Renminbi  Euro Kina  Ringgit currencies 
 $ $ $ $ $ $

30 September 2009
Group     
Trade and other receivables 2,675,083 176,046 21,425 1,973,790 –   849
Cash and cash equivalents 698,797 –   22,450 –   –   4,759
Trade and other payables (2,849,223) (104,309) (200,449) (1,111,236) (348,453) (770,814)
 524,657 71,737 (156,574) 862,554  (348,453) (765,206)
Company     
Trade and other receivables 2,675,083 2,075 21,425 1,973,790 –   849
Cash and cash equivalents 697,275 –    22,450 –   –   4,759
Trade and other payables (2,849,223) (95,268) (200,449) (1,111,236) (348,453) (770,814)
 523,135 (93,193) (156,574) 862,554  (348,453) (765,206)

        
   US Chinese  Other
    dollar Renminbi  Euro currencies 
   $ $ $ $

30 September 2008    
Group     
Trade and other receivables   4,487,320 –      33,263  8,852
Cash and cash equivalents   72,581 –      3,147      62,754
Trade and other payables   (3,533,382) (277,894) (756,451) (55,094)
   1,026,519 (277,894) (720,041) 16,512
Company     
Trade and other receivables   4,487,320 –      33,263 8,852
Cash and cash equivalents   72,581   –      3,147 10,061
Trade and other payables   (3,533,382) (277,894) (756,451) (55,094)
   1,026,519 (277,894) (720,041) (36,181)
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21 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

Sensitivity analysis
A 10% strengthening of Singapore dollar against the following currencies at the reporting date would increase (decrease) profit or 
loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

     Group Company
    Profit or Profit or
     loss loss
    $ $

30 September 2009     
US dollar    (52,466) (52,314)
Chinese Renminbi    (7,174) 9,319
Euro    15,657 15,657
Papua New Guinea Kina    (86,255) (86,255)
Malaysian Ringgit    34,845 34,845
Other currencies    76,521 76,521
     
30 September 2008     
US dollar    (102,652) (102,652)
Chinese Renminbi    27,789 27,789
Euro    72,004 72,004
Other currencies    (1,651) 3,618

A 10% weakening of Singapore dollar against the above currencies would have had the equal but opposite effect on the above 
currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant.

Sensitivity analysis-equity price risk
The Group has an investment in a quoted securities. A 10% decrease in the underlying bid price at the reporting date would 
decrease profit by the following amount:

 Group Company
  2009 2008 2009 2008
  $ $ $ $

Profit  225,279 321,151  225,279 321,151

This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant and the equity securities continue to be impaired.

A corresponding 10% increase would increase equity by the same amount.

Estimation of fair value
The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined using forward foreign exchange market rates at the balance 
sheet date.

The fair value of available-for-sale financial assets is determined by reference to their quoted bid prices at reporting date.

The notional amounts of financial assets and liabilities of the Group and of the Company with a maturity of less than one year (including 
trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, and trade and other payables) approximate their fair values.
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22 COMMITMENT

In 2008, the Group leases its office facilities under operating leases. The leases typically run for an initial period of one to two years, 
with an option to renew the lease after that date. Lease payments are increased annually to reflect market rates. None of the leases 
includes contingent rentals.

 Group Company
  2009 2008 2009 2008
  $ $ $ $

Within 1 year  –     146,294 –     122,400

23 RELATED PARTIES

Key management personnel compensation comprises:

 Group and Company
  2009 2008
  $ $

Wages and salaries classified as administrative expenses:  
- key management of the Company 1,122,721 1,185,720
- directors’ fees 115,000 120,000
 1,237,721 1,305,720

The remuneration of the Company’s directors falls within the following range:

 Group and Company
 Number of Directors

  2009 2008
Remuneration band    
$250,000 and above – 1
Below $250,000 8 8

Other transactions with key management personnel
During the financial year, the Company entered into contracts with a firm which the director is a member, for the provision of consultancy 
services to the Company (see Note 17). As at 30 September 2009, the Company has an outstanding balance of $40,739 payable to the firm 
which the director is a member.
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24 CONTINGENT LIABILITY

The Company has unsecured contingent liability in respect a standby Letter of Credit issued in favour of a bank amounting 
$1,310,000 (2008: $1,310,000) for a short-term loan of RMB10,390,000 (2008: RMB11,000,000) granted to the associate, 
Shenyang Shenfei Dayen Environmental Ltd. The short term loan was fully drawn down as at 30 September 2008 and is expected 
to be settled by 20 January 2010.

25 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

•	 The	Group	and	the	Company’s	available-for-sale	quoted	equity	securities	recorded	a	fair	value	of	$2.3	million	at	30	September	
2009. Subsequent to year-end, at date of the audit report, the fair value was $1.9 million, which was a further decline of $0.4 
million from the value at 30 September 2009.

•	 On	21	October	2009,	the	holder	of	the	RCPS	of	a	subsidiary	converted	the	RCPS	(amounting	to	$500,000	at	30	September	
2009) into ordinary shares of the subsidiary. 

 On 28 October 2009, the subscription of the second tranche of 35,714,286 RCPS lapsed and was cancelled. On 28 December 
2009, the subsidiary entered into a share subscription agreement with the RCPS holder to allow the holder to subscribe for 
54,147,466 ordinary shares of the subsidiary. The shares were issued to the RCPS holder on 31 December 2009. 

 With the conversion of the RCPS on 21 October 2009 and the new shares issued by the subsidiary on 31 December 2009, the 
Company’s interest in the subsidiary was reduced from 51% to 31.62%.

•	 On	17	December	2009,	the	Company	entered	into	a	placement	agreement	(the	“Placement”)	with	Moya	Holding	Company	BSC	
(“Moya”) whereby the Company will (i) allot and issue to Moya 319,541,219 new shares at the issue price of $0.0626 per share; 
and (ii) grant to Moya up to 22,575,307 share options at exercise price of $0.05 per option. These share options are granted to 
Moya in order to maintain Moya’s effective interests in the Company and are exercisable only in conjunction with the existing 
options granted under the Dayen Employee Share Option Scheme. Moya will hold 51% of the enlarged issued share capital of 
the Company upon issuance of the new shares.

 The proposed Placement is subject to the approval of shareholders of the Company in an extraordinary general meeting to be convened.

26 NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET ADOPTED 

The Group has not applied the following accounting standards (including its consequential amendments) and interpretations that 
have been issued as of the balance sheet date but are not yet effective:

FRS 1 (revised 2008) Presentation of Financial Statements
FRS 23 (revised 2007) Borrowing costs
Amendment to FRS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 
  – Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation
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26 NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET ADOPTED (cont’d) 

Amendment to FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition of Measurement – Eligible Hedged Items
Amendment to FRS 101 First-time Adoption of Financial Reporting Standards and FRS 27 Consolidated and 
  Separate Financial Statements – Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled  
  Entity or Associate
Amendment to FRS 102 Share-based Payment – Vesting Conditions and Cancellations
FRS 103 (revised) Business Combinations and FRS 27 (revised) Separate and Consolidated Financial Statements 
Amendment to FRS 107 Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments
FRS 108 Operating Segments
Improvements to FRSs 2008
Improvements to FRSs 2009
INT FRS 117  Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners

FRS 1 (revised 2008) will become effective for the Group’s financial statements for the year ending 30 September 20 10. The revised 
standard requires an entity to present, in a statement of changes in equity,  all owner changes in equity. All non-owner changes in 
equity (i.e. comprehensive income) are required to be presented in one statement of comprehensive income or in two statements (a 
separate income statement and a statement of comprehensive income). Components of comprehensive income are not permitted to 
be presented in the statement of changes in equity. In addition, a statement of financial position is required at the beginning of the 
earliest comparative period following a change in accounting policy, the correction of an error or the reclassification of items in the 
financial statements. FRS1 (revised 2008) does not have any impact on the Group’s financial position or results. 

FRS 23 (revised 2007) will become effective for the Group’s financial statements for the year ending 30 September 2010. FRS 23 
(revised 2007) removes the option to expense borrowing costs and requires an entity to capitalise borrowing costs directly attributable 
to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset as part of the cost of that asset. The Group’s current policy to 
capitalise borrowing costs is consistent with the requirement in the revised FRS 23. 

The amendments to FRS 32 and FRS 1 on puttable financial instruments will become effective for the Group’s financial statements 
for the year ending 30 September 2010. The amendments allow certain instruments that would normally be classified as liabilities 
to be classified as equity if and only if they meet certain conditions. 

The amendments to FRS 39 on eligible hedged items will become effective for the Group’s financial statements for the year ending 30 
September 2010. The amendments, which clarify how the principles that determine whether a hedged risk or portion of cash flows is 
eligible for designation, should be applied in two particular situations: (i) the designation of a one-sided risk in a hedged item; and 
(ii) the designation of inflation in particular situations. The application of these amendments is not expected to have any significant 
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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26 NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET ADOPTED (cont’d) 

The amendments to FRS 101 and FRS 27 on the cost of an investment in a subsidiary, jointly controlled entity or associate will become 
effective for the Company’s financial statements for the year ending 30 September 2010. The amendments remove the definition of 
“cost method” currently set out in FRS 27, and instead require an entity to recognise all dividend from a subsidiary, jointly controlled 
entity or associate as income in its separate financial statements when its right to receive the dividend is established. The application 
of these amendments is not expected to have any significant impact on the Company’s financial statements.

The amendments to FRS 102 on vesting conditions and cancellations will become effective for the Group’s financial statements for the 
year ending 30 September 2010. The amendments clarify the definition of vesting conditions and provide the accounting treatment 
for non-vesting conditions and cancellations. 

FRS 103 (revised) and FRS 27 (revised) will become effective for the Group’s financial statements for the year ending 30 September 
2010. FRS 103 (revised) introduces significant changes to the accounting for business combinations both at the acquisition date and 
post acquisition, and requires greater use of fair values. The revised FRS 103 will be applied prospectively and therefore there will 
be no impact on prior periods in the Group’s financial statements for the year ending 30 September 2010. FRS 27 (revised) requires 
accounting for changes in ownership interests by the Group in a subsidiary, while maintaining control, to be recognised as an equity 
transaction. When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, any interest retained in the former subsidiary will be measured at fair value 
with the gain or loss recognised in profit or loss. 

The amendments to FRS 107: Financial Instruments:  Disclosures – Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments will become 
effective for the Group’s financial statements for the year ending 30 September 2010. The amendments require entities to disclose 
how the fair value of their financial instruments are measured using the ‘three-level hierarchy’ and to provide additional disclosures 
about the relative reliability of the fair value measurements. The amendments also require additional disclosure on the nature and 
extent of liquidity risk arising from financial instruments to which an entity is exposed. These amendments do not have any impact 
on the Group’s financial position or results. In addition, in the first year of application, the amendments do not require comparative 
information to be disclosed. 

FRS 108 will become effective for the Group’s financial statements for the year ending 30 September 2010. FRS 108, which replaces 
FRS 14 Segment Reporting, requires identification and reporting of operating segments based on internal reports that are regularly 
reviewed by the entity’s chief operating decision maker in order to allocate resources to the segment and to assess its performance. 
Currently, the Group presents segment information in respect of its business segments (see Note 20). Under FRS 108, the Group will 
present segment information in respect of its operating segments: wastewater treatment and water treatment. 

Improvements to FRSs 2008 will become effective for the Group’s financial statements for the year ending 30 September 2010. 
Improvements to FRSs 2008 contain amendments to numerous accounting standards that result in accounting changes for presentation, 
recognition or measurement purposes and terminology or editorial amendments. The Group is in the process of assessing the impact 
of these amendments.
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26 NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET ADOPTED (cont’d) 

Improvements to FRSs 2009 will become effective for the Group’s financial statements for the year ending 30 September 2010 for 
amendments relating to:

FRS 102 Share-based payment
FRS 38 Intangible assets
INT FRS 109 Reassessment of embedded derivatives
INT FRS 116 Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation

Improvements to FRSs 2009 will become effective for the Group’s financial statements for the year ending 30 September 2011 for 
amendments relating to:

FRS 1 Presentation of financial statements
FRS 7 Statement of cash flows
FRS 17 Leases
FRS 36 Impairment of assets
FRS 39 Financial Instruments:  Recognition and measurement
FRS 105 Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations
FRS 108 Operating segments

Improvements to FRSs 2009 contain amendments to numerous accounting standards that result in accounting changes for presentation, 
recognition or measurement and disclosure purposes. The Group is in the process of assessing the impact of these amendments.

INT FRS 117 will become effective for the Group’s financial statements for the year ending 30 September 2010. INT FRS 117 prescribes 
the accounting treatment of distributions of non-cash assets by an entity to owners. It clarifies that such distributions should be 
measured at the fair value of the non-cash assets and the difference between the carrying amount and the fair value of non-cash 
assets to be distributed should be recognised in the profit or loss. INT FRS 117 will be applied prospectively.

Management is currently assessing, the initial application of these standards (and its consequential amendments) and interpretations. 
The Group has not considered the impact of accounting standards issued after the balance sheet date.



SUPPLEMENTARY 
INFORMATION

GROUP PROPERTIES

Details of the development properties of the Group are set out below:

Location  Description Existing use Tenure Gross floor
     area (sq ft)
6 Woodlands Industrial park E1 5 storey office and Office / 60 years  11,244
Singapore 757729 worker dormitory dormitory From 09/01/1995 

    to 08/01/2055
  
The leasehold property has a carrying amount of $2,000,000 and the fair value of the leasehold property was determined by an independent 
professional valuer on 10 November 2009, based on market value, which is the estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged 
on the date of the valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in arm’s length transaction.
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No. of Issued Shares  : 307,010,190
No. of Treasury Shares   : Nil 
Class of Equity Security  : Ordinary Shares 
Voting Rights of Ordinary Shareholders   : On a show of hands :  1 vote for each member 
    On a poll : 1 vote for each ordinary share

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS 

Size of Shareholdings No. of Shareholders % No. of Shares %
1-999  109 5.37 9,784 0.00
1,000 - 10,000 551 27.14 2,525,509 0.82 
10,001 - 1,000,000 1,331 65.57 145,425,759 47.37 
1,000,001 and above 39 1.92 159,049,138 51.81 
  2,030 100.00 307,010,190 100.00

SHAREHOLDING HELD IN HANDS OF PUBLIC

As at 30 November 2009 the percentage of shareholdings held in the hands of the public was approximately 98% and Rule 723 of the 
Listing Manual is complied with.

TOP 20 SHAREHOLDERS LIST

 S/NO  Name of Shareholder No. of Shares Held %
 1 Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 22,752,500 7.41
 2 Lim & Tan Securities Pte Ltd 12,230,506 3.98
 3 Yu Kam 12,000,000 3.91
 4 Yeo Cheow Tong 10,171,000 3.31
 5 OCBC Securities Private Ltd 8,434,510 2.75
 6 Ng Ser Miang 8,356,500 2.72
 7 Kim Eng Securities Pte. Ltd. 6,911,000 2.25
 8 Chong Kam Len 4,782,000 1.56
 9 Merrill Lynch (S) Pte Ltd 4,540,000 1.48
 10 Kwek Swee Heng 4,000,000 1.30
 11 Ng Tie Jin (Huang Zhiren) 4,000,000 1.30
 12 ING Nominees (S) Pte Ltd 3,955,647 1.29
 13 Lim Yue Heng 3,700,000 1.21
 14 Sim Beng Huat Henry 3,504,000 1.14
 15 United Oveseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 3,441,750 1.12
 16 Lee Thian Guan John 3,075,000 1.00
 17 Sitaram Chandra Das 3,005,000 0.98
 18 UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd 3,002,500 0.98
 19 Tiong Sia Yiew 3,000,000 0.98
 20 Lee Ching Yen Stephen 2,845,000 0.93
   127,706,913 41.60



NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
DAYEN ENVIRONMENTAL LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)
Company Registration No. 198602051G

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at Orchid Country Club, Sapphire 3, 1 Orchid Club 
Road, Singapore 769162 on Monday, 25 January 2010 at 9.30 a.m. to transact the following business:-

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and consider the Directors’ Report and Audited Accounts for the financial year ended 30 September 2009 and the Auditors’ 
Report thereon. [Resolution 1]

2. To approve the payment of Directors’ fee of S$115,000 for the financial year ended 30 September 2009. (2008: S$120,000)  [Resolution 2]

3. To re-elect Mr Mun Hon Pheng who is retiring in accordance with Article 91 of the Company’s Articles of Association, as Director of the Company.
 [See explanatory note (i)]  [Resolution 3]

4. To re-appoint KPMG LLP as Auditors and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.  [Resolution 4]

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following as Ordinary Resolutions, with or without modifications:- 

5. Authority to allot and issue shares (the “Share Issue Mandate”)

(a) “That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 and Rule 806 of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited 
(“SGX-ST”) Listing Manual – Section B: Rules of Catalist (the “Catalist Rules”), authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of 
the Company to:

(i) allot and issue shares in the capital of the Company (“Shares”) whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise; and/or

(ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might or would require Shares to be issued, including 
but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as adjustments to) warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible 
into Shares, 

 at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for purposes and to such persons as the Directors of the Company may in 
their absolute discretion deem fit; and

(b) (notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution 5 may have ceased in force) issue Shares in pursuance of any Instrument 
made or granted by the Directors of the Company while this Resolution 5 was in force,

provided that:

(i) the aggregate number of Shares to be issued pursuant to this Resolution 5 (including Shares to be issued in pursuance of 
Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution 5) does not exceed 100% of the total number of issued Shares 
(excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (ii) below), of which 
the aggregate number of Shares to be issued other than on a pro rata basis to shareholders of the Company (including Shares to 
be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution 5) does not exceed 50% of the total number 
of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (ii) 
below); and 
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(ii) (subject to such manner of calculation as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST), for the purpose of determining the aggregate number 
of Shares that may be issued under sub-paragraph (i) above, the percentage of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) shall 
be based on the number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company at the time this Resolution 
5 is passed, after adjusting for:

(A) new Shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities or Share options or vesting of Share awards 
which are outstanding or subsisting at the time this Resolution 5 is passed; and

(B) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or sub-division of Shares;

(iii) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution 5, the Company shall comply with the requirements imposed by the SGX-
ST from time to time and the Catalist Rules for the time being in force (in each case, unless such compliance has been waived 
by the SGX-ST), and the Memorandum and Articles of Association for the time being of the Company; and

(iv) (unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting) the authority conferred by this Resolution 5 shall continue in force 
until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting 
of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier.”

 [See explanatory note (ii)]  [Resolution 5]

6. Authority to allot and issue new shares of up to 100% of the total number of issued shares via a pro rata renounceable rights issue

 “THAT authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company to issue new shares by way of a pro-rata renounceable rights 
issue (“Rights Shares”) at any time provided that:

(i) the aggregate number of Rights Shares does not exceed 100% of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in 
the capital of the Company at the time of the passing of this Resolution 6;

(ii) for the purpose of determining the aggregate number of Rights Shares that may be issued under sub-paragraph (i) above, the total 
number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) shall be based on the total number of issued shares of the Company (excluding 
treasury shares) as at the date of the passing of this Resolution 6, after adjusting for:

(A) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of convertible securities;

(B) new shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of share awards outstanding or subsisting at the time this Resolution 
6 is passed;

(C) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares;

(iii) (unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting) the authority conferred by this Resolution 6 shall continue in force 
until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of 
the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier.”

 [See explanatory note (iii)]            [Resolution 6]
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7. Authority to issue shares other than on a pro rata basis pursuant to the Share Issue Mandate at discounts not exceeding 20% of the 
weighted average price for trades done on the SGX-ST 

 
 “THAT, subject and pursuant to the Share Issue Mandate in Resolution 5 above being obtained, authority be and is hereby given to the 

Directors of the Company to allot and issue new shares on non pro rata basis at an issue price per new share which shall be determined 
by the Directors of the Company in their absolute discretion provided that such price shall not represent more than 20% discount to the 
weighted average price per share determined in accordance with the requirements of the SGX-ST, provided that:

(i) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution 7, the Company complies with the requirements imposed by the SGX-ST from 
time to time and the Catalist Rules for the time being in force (in each case, unless such compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST), 
and the Memorandum and Articles of Association for the time being of the Company; and

(ii) (unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting) the authority conferred by this Resolution 7 shall continue in force 
until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of 
the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier.” 

 [See explanatory note (iv)]            [Resolution 7]

8. Authority to offer and grant options and issue shares under the Dayen Employee Share Option Scheme

 “THAT approval be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company to offer and grant options in accordance with the provisions of 
the Dayen Employee Share Option Scheme (including options over shares at a subscription price per share set at a discount to the market 
price of a share) and to allot and issue from time to time such number of shares in the capital of the Company as may be required to be 
issued pursuant to the exercise of the options under the Dayen Employee Share Option Scheme, provided that the aggregate number of 
shares to be issued pursuant to the Dayen Employee Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 15% of the total number of issued shares 
(excluding treasury shares) of the Company from time to time.”

      [See explanatory note (v)]       [Resolution 8]

9. To transact any other business that may be properly transacted at an Annual General Meeting.  [Resolution 9]

 
By Order of the Board

Yau Wai Hoo
Chief Executive Officer / Managing Director 
Singapore
9th January 2010
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Explanatory Notes :

(i) Mr Mun Hon Pheng, if re-elected, will remain as the Chairman of the remuneration committee, a member of the nomination committee 
and the audit committee and will be considered as independent director.

(ii) Resolution 5, if passed, will authorise the Directors of the Company, from the date of the passing of Resolution 5 to the conclusion of 
the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by 
law to be held, whichever is earlier, to allot and issue Shares in the capital of the Company and to make or grant instruments (such as 
warrants or debentures) convertible into Shares, and to issue Shares in pursuance of such instruments, up to an aggregate number not 
exceeding 100% of the Company’s total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares), with a sub-limit of 50% of the total number 
of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) for issues other than on a pro rata basis to shareholders. For the purpose of determining 
the aggregate number of Shares that may be issued, the percentage of issued Shares shall be based on the number of issued Shares 
(excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company at the time Resolution 5 is passed, after adjusting for (a) new Shares arising from 
the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities or share options or vesting of share awards which are outstanding or subsisting 
at the time Resolution 5 is passed, and (b) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or sub-division of Shares. 

(iii) The proposed Resolution 6 is pursuant to measures implemented by the SGX-ST as stated in a press release entitled “SGX introduces 
further measures to facilitate fund raising” dated 19 February 2009, in order to accelerate and facilitate listed issuers’ fund raising 
efforts (the “New Measures”). Under the New Measures implemented by the SGX-ST, a listed issuer can seek a general mandate from 
shareholders to issue up to 100% of its issued share capital via a pro-rata renounceable rights issue, subject to the condition that the 
issuer makes periodic announcements on the use of the proceeds as and when the funds are materially disbursed and provides a status 
report on the use of proceeds in the annual report. 

 Resolution 6, if passed, will authorise the Directors of the Company from the date of the passing of Resolution 6 to the conclusion of 
the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required 
by law to be held, whichever is earlier, to allot and issue shares in the Company up to 100% of its issued capital by way of a pro-rata 
renounceable rights issue.

(iv) Resolution 7, if passed, will authorize the Directors of the Company to allot and issue new shares (on a non pro rata basis) at an issue 
price of up to 20% discount to the weighted average price per share. This is one of the New Measures implemented by the SGX-ST. 

(v) Resolution 8, if passed, will empower the Directors to offer and grant options and to allot and issue shares in the capital of the Company 
pursuant to the Dayen Employee Share Option Scheme provided that the aggregate number of shares to be issued shall not exceed 15% 
of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) of the Company from time to time.

Proxies:

A member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting may appoint not more than two proxies to attend and vote on his 
behalf and where a member appoints more than one proxy, the proportion of the shareholding concerned to be represented by each proxy 
shall be specified in the form of proxy. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited 
at the registered office of the Company at 6 Woodlands Industrial Park E1 Singapore 757729 not less than 48 hours before the time set for 
the holding of the Annual General Meeting.
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I/We   

of  

being a member/members of DAYEN ENVIRONMENTAL LIMITED hereby appoint 

 Name Address NRIC/Passport Proportion of
   Number Shareholdings (%)

            and/or (delete as appropriate)

as my/our proxy/proxies to vote for me/us on my/our behalf and, if necessary, to demand a poll, at the Annual General Meeting of DAYEN 
ENVIRONMENTAL LIMITED to be held at Orchid Country Club, Sapphire 3, 1 Orchid Road, Singapore 769162 on 25 January 2010 at 9.30 
a.m. and at any adjournment thereof.

(Please indicate with an “X” in the spaces provided whether you wish your vote(s) to be cast for or against the Ordinary Resolutions as set 
out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting. In the absence of specific directions, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain as he/they may think 
fit, as he/they will on any other matter arising at the Annual General Meeting.)

NO ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS FOR AGAINST

 Ordinary Business 

1. To receive and consider  Directors and Auditors’ Reports and Accounts
  
2. To approve Directors’ fees
  
3. To re-elect Mr Mun Hon Pheng as Director 
  
4. To re-appoint KPMG LLP as Auditors
  
 Special Business

5. To authorise Directors to allot and issue shares in the capital of the Company   

6. To authorise Directors to allot and issue new shares via renounceable rights issue  

7. To authorise Directors to issue shares other than on pro-rata basis at discounts not 
 exceeding 20%  

8. To authorise Directors to offer and grant options and/or allot shares pursuant to the 
 Dayen Employee  Share  Option Scheme  

9. Any other ordinary business
  

Dated this                day of                    2009.

 
Signature(s) of member(s) or Common Seal

IMPORTANT :-
PLEASE READ NOTES OVERLEAF

IMPORTANT:
1. For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy the Company’s shares, the 

Annual Report is forwarded to them at the request of their CPF Approved Nominees 
and is sent solely FOR INFORMATION ONLY.

2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF investors and shall be ineffective for all 
intents and purposes if used or purported to be used by them.

3. CPF Investors who wish to attend the Annual General Meeting as OBSERVERS have 
to submit their requests through their respective Agent banks so that their Agent 
banks may register with the Company Secretary of Dayen Environmental Limited not 
less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting.

Total Number of Shares Held
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Notes :-

1. Please insert the total number of shares held by you. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register (as defined 
in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 of Singapore), you should insert that number of shares. If you have shares registered in 
your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of shares. If you have shares entered against your name in the 
Depository Register and shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate number of shares 
entered against your name in the Depository Register and registered in your name in the Register of Members. If no number is inserted, 
the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to relate to all the shares held by you.

2 A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company may appoint not more than two proxies, whether 
a member or not, to attend and vote instead of him.

3 Where a member appoints more than one proxy, the proportion of the shareholding concerned to be represented by each proxy shall be 
specified in the form of proxy.

4 The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 6 Woodlands Industrial Park E1 Singapore 
757729, not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for the holding of the Annual General Meeting.

5 The instrument appointing a proxy must be under the hand of the appointor or his attorney. Where the instrument appointing a proxy 
is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its common seal or under  the hand of an attorney or a duly authorised 
officer of the corporation.

6. Where an instrument appointing a proxy is signed on behalf of the appointer by an attorney, the letter or power of attorney or a duly 
certified copy thereof must (failing previous registration with the Company) be lodged with the instrument of proxy, failing which the 
instrument may be treated as invalid.

7. A corporation which is a member may by a resolution of its directors or other governing body authorise such person as it thinks fit to act 
as its representative at the Annual General Meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 of Singapore.

General:

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy if it is incomplete, improperly completed or illegible or where the 
true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the instrument appointing a proxy. 
In addition, in the case of shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any instrument appointing a proxy lodged if the 
member, being the appointor, is not shown to have shares entered against his name in the Depository Register as at forty-eight (48) hours 
before the time appointed for the holding of the Annual General Meeting, as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.





6 Woodlands Industrial Park E1 Singapore 757729  
Tel: (65) 6365 0652  
Fax: (65) 6365 1025
Website: www.dayen.com.sg  
Email: enquiry@dayen.com.sg
(Co. Reg. No.: 198602051G)




